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PREFACE 

Our schools have neglected too long to instruct our youth 

in the history and natural resources of the South American 

republics. Most of the literature on South America published in 

this country consists of books of travel, which, as such, are 

unsuitable as texts for our elementary or secondary schools. The 

rising generation, however, should know that near our southern 

limits lies a continent that has a history as interesting as that of 

the ancient Greeks and Romans and as entertaining as that of any 

nation of modern Europe. They should know that within this 

century these South American republics may possibly become 

our greatest competitors in the commerce of the world and share 

the prestige of demonstrating the purpose of democratic 

government. They should know that many of our own citizens 

have moved to South America and established colonies in the 

Amazon valley and elsewhere; and they may ask, as our country 

becomes more and more thickly populated, whether the surplus 

from North America will not go to enlarge the peoples of South 

America.  

Careful students of the movements of population predict 

that, in the time to come, great nations will develop on the 

southern continent which will surpass any now existing in the old 

world. These will be our nearest neighbors; yet of their 

civilization, past and present, our children know practically 

nothing. On the other hand, the youth of South America are 

taught in the schools to speak our language, to understand our 

civilization, to appreciate our form of government, and to study 

our resources.  

I became interested in South America when a teacher at 

Trinity College, Durham, where I collected most of the matter 

contained in South American Stories for use as illustrative 

material or type studies for my classes. This material has recently 

been rewritten, in order that teachers may have an available text 

to use in instructing students in the wonderful history, the 

interesting geography, and the strange fauna and flora of the great 

continent that lies to the south of us.  

THE AUTHOR 
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CHAPTER I  

SOUTH AMERICAðA LAND OF 

ADVENTURE AND OF PROMISE  

The history of the western hemisphere begins rather 

with South America than with North America. Students of 

United States history are familiar with the life of Christopher 

Columbus and his finding of the New World. Although he 

pointed the way for European nations to found valuable 

colonies in North America, there was an interval of a hundred 

and fifteen years between Columbus's discovery in 1492 and 

the first English settlement in 1607. In this period much 

history was made in South America. Spain and Portugal 

established rich colonies on the southern continent. They built 

cities and developed a valuable commerce that not only 

enriched Spain and Portugal but created commercial and 

political centers in South America rivaling in importance 

many of the cities of Europe. Students naturally ask how it 

happened that Spain and Portugal gained such an advantage in 

the sixteenth century over England, France, and the other 

European nations and why it was that they established colonies 

in South America rather than in North America.  

In the fifteenth century, many cities on or near the 

Mediterranean Sea developed a rich trade with India, and 

goods brought from Asia were sold throughout Europe. This 

commerce made these cities rich and powerful. But in the last 

half of the fifteenth century the Turks captured 

Constantinople. Moors had long before conquered the 

southern part of Spain. Having also taken possession of 

western Asia, through which the trade lines ran between 

Europe and India, the Turks made it exceedingly difficult for 

the cities of southern Europe to continue their commerce with 

the East. This caused distress to Europe and forced the traders 

to seek other routes to India.  

Through the encouragement of Prince Henry of 

Portugal, daring seamen sought to reach India by going around 

the southern end of Africa. Others thought that India might be 

arrived at by sailing westward and circumnavigating the globe. 

Christopher Columbus, thanks to the aid of the king and queen 

of Spain, was the first to attempt to reach India by sailing due 

west. Instead of reaching India, he discovered the New World 

(1492). However, he thought that he had reached Cipango or 

Japan; nor did he, to the day of his death, know that he had 

discovered a new continent. Six years later (1498), Vasco da 

Gama, a Portuguese, succeeded in reaching India by sailing 

around the Cape of Good Hope. Thus, a water route to India 

was found by Portugal and a new world was discovered by 

Spain. These nations, being, more familiar with long-distance 

navigation than the northern Europeans and having better 

vessels, were in a position to develop a commerce with the 

Orient.  

Why was South America colonized before North 

America?  

Christopher Columbus, after landing on one of the 

Bahama Islands, in October, 1492, and later on the shores of 

Cuba, founded his first colony on the island of Haiti. He 

christened it Hispaniola, which means Little Spain, and there 

set up the first European settlement in America. Returning to 

Spain, he let his success be known to the world.  

This queerly-shaped island of Haiti, lying almost in the 

middle of the chain of West Indies, between Porto Rico and 

Cuba, is the second largest of these islands. It contains 2,800 

square miles, which is about the area of the states of Vermont, 

New Hampshire, and Massachusetts. At the time of 

Columbus's discovery, the population was thought to be nearly 

2,000,000. The island was rich in natural resources. There was 

much gold, and the fertile soil produced many things. The 

Spaniards, eager for wealth, sought to make the natives their 

servants, forcing them to work in mines and till the soil. As a 

result, the Indians became hostile and massacred the first 
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colonists. But on his second voyage Columbus brought about 

1,500 followers, and the colony, within a few years, increased 

so greatly that the Spaniards were able to subdue the island. In 

time they killed out the natives. Since the latter did not make 

good laborers, negro servants were introduced from Africa, 

beginning as early as 1512; this slave labor became most 

profitable. Thereafter, blacks were imported in such swarms 

that soon the number of negroes on the island was greater than 

that of Spaniards and Indians together.  

In 1496 the town of Santo Domingo was founded; it 

became the capital of the island and of the Spanish dominions 

in the New World. Within a short time its streets were alive 

with adventurers, who flocked thither seeking wealth. For 

some years it was not only the center of Spanish control in 

America, but a city of much commercial importance; the 

island of Haiti was Spain's most valuable colony. Here in 1501 

came Vasco Nunez de Balboa, a bankrupt young Spanish 

nobleman, who had decided to mend his fortunes in the New 

World. He did not linger in Santo Domingo, but sailed for the 

Isthmus of Darien, where he made friends with the Indians, 

established a colony, and discovered, the Pacific Ocean.  

It was at Santo Domingo that Hernando Cortez landed 

in 1504, and from that place he led an expedition into Cuba 

and thence to Mexico, where in 1519 he captured Montezuma, 

the ruler of Mexico, and obtained enough gold to make Spain 

rich.  

About the same time another Spanish soldier, 

Francisco Pizarro, full of the spirit of adventure, landed at 

Santo Domingo and later joined Balboa on the Isthmus of 

Darien. From Panama he led an expedition down to Peru, 

conquering the Inca, the ruler of that country. He, also, 

shipped enormous quantities of gold to Spain.  

As a result of the activities of these and thousands of 

other Spaniards, Central and South America were explored 

and vast amounts of the precious metals were sent to Europe. 

The route down into South America seemed to be lined with 

gold, but little of it was found in North America, outside of 

Mexico. For that reason the northern continent for a hundred 

years after the discovery was considered of small value.  

Spain suddenly became great by reason of her 

territories in the New World. But Spain had one enterprising 

commercial rival, her neighbor, Portugal. England at that time 

was a small, struggling nation, hardly able to maintain its 

independence. France was not a commercial nation of 

prominence. Portugal, however, after Portuguese seamen 

sailed around the Cape of Good Hope and opened up a trade 

route with India, rose to great importance. The Portuguese 

government wished to secure a share of the wealth of the New 

World. In 1500, Pedro Alvarez Cabral, a Portuguese nobleman 

of illustrious family, set sail for America and took possession 

of the shores of Brazil, which had already been discovered by 

Pinzon, a companion of Columbus.  

Henceforth, the rivalry for the possession of South 

America lay between Spain and Portugal, and for nearly a 

century these two nations vied with each other to see which 

could profit more by the wealth of the New World. Spain at 

first used the island of Haiti as a base from which to plant her 

colonies in Mexico, Central America, and along the northern 

and western coasts of South America.  

Eventually, as rich colonies developed, Haiti came to 

be almost deserted. It fell a prey to savage Indians and 

negroes, and to pirates that lurked along its coast.  

On the return of Cabral, the Portuguese government at 

once sent to South America a large expedition under the 

command of Amerigo Vespucci, who made a careful study of 

the coast from the Amazon to the Plata River. On the first day 

of January, 1501, he sailed into a beautiful bay which he 

thought to be a river. He, therefore, called it Rio de Janeiro, or 

"River of January." He was unable to find much gold and 

silver, but he did discover a very valuable dyewood of bright 

red. This Vespucci called "brazilwood," which means "wood 

the color of fire." It was so valuable that the land was called 
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"The Country of Brazilwood," and finally Brazil. Hundreds of 

vessels, not only from Portugal but from other lands, sailed to 

Brazil, and fortunes were made by trading in dye-wood, which 

was greatly wanted in Europe.  

Amerigo Vespucci declared that if there were such a 

thing as an earthly paradise it could not be far from the 

Brazilian coast. Returning home, he wrote an account of his 

voyage, with maps, and published it. Many people throughout 

Europe read it and marveled at the wonderful country he 

pictured. When they spoke of the New World, they called it 

the land of "America," that is, the land discovered by Amerigo 

Vespucci. Thus we have the name America.  

The struggle was now fairly under way for possession 

of South America. Other nations watched with jealous eyes the 

stream of wealth flowing from Central and South America to 

Spain and Portugal, but they were unable to stop its flow or to 

profit much from it, save by making war here and there in a 

piratical manner and robbing vessels as they sped along with 

rich cargoes. The great contest for world supremacy in that 

period lay between Spain and Portugal.  

The Spaniards offered ships to those who would sail 

along the northern and western coasts in search of gold. The 

Portuguese planted sugar cane in Brazil and gave land to all 

who would settle in this fertile country and cultivate sugar. 

The Spaniards went into Mexico, took the wealth from 

Montezuma, and shipped great treasures to Spain. The 

Portuguese sent shiploads of dyewood and sugar back to 

Portugal. The Spanish built cities, enslaved Indians and 

negroes, and forced them to work in the mines. The 

Portuguese established rich plantations, brought in slave labor, 

and developed great cane-fields and sugar factories, which laid 

the foundation of a rich commerce.  

The Spaniards moved down the west coast of South 

America and robbed the natives of their wealth. The 

Portuguese occupied the east coast and cultivated native plants 

that were useful to Europe. The Spaniards discovered the 

alpaca sheep on the western slopes of the Andes and, carrying 

its wool to Spain, gave royalty new fabrics. The Portuguese 

found the cotton plant in the valley of the Amazon. This plant 

has since become the principal material of dress of all the 

world.  

While the Spaniards were seeking the Fountain of 

Youth, where it was believed old men might bathe and regain 

youthful vigor, the Portuguese were searching for the 

Amazons, a race of female warriors said to guard the city of El 

Dorado, the wealth of which was declared to surpass anything 

in. the East.  

The Spaniards discovered on the plains of Peru the 

llama, the Peruvian sheep, with head like a camel, wool like a 

sheep, legs like a deer, and neigh like a horse. The Portuguese 

found in the Amazon an animal, half cow and half fish, the 

cow-fish, and, in the forests, the anaconda, a snake sixty feet 

long, as big round as a tree, and with a head like a dragon. 

They also discovered birds of beautiful plumage which excited 

the admiration of kings and queens.  

All these stories of gold and silver and dyewood and 

sugar cane and cotton fields and strange animals and beautiful 

birds gave Europe a new lesson in animals and plants and 

precious metals. There had been nothing like it in the Old 

World, and European adventurers turned their eyes toward 

America as to a fairy region of riches and marvels.  

The nations of Europe loved gold because it was the 

chief money of all civilized peoples. The nobles adorned 

themselves with it and churches and palaces were ornamented 

with it; but the sugar of Brazil brought as much joy to the 

world, perhaps, as did the gold and silver of Mexico and Peru.  

South America was the great wonderland. The tales of 

adventure there were as marvelous as the Arabian Nights; 

every adventurer returning home could entertain his friends for 

weeks with delightful stories. So many people wished to hear 

of the discoveries, made not only in South America but in 
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India as well, that news bulletins became popular, and 

newspapers may be said to have had their beginning in this 

public demand for knowledge.  

 

 
 

FIRST SPANISH SETTLEMENTS  

Gold and silver from South America flowed in a 

continual stream into the treasury of Spain. More money than 

the world had ever known before was suddenly thrown into 

circulation. As a result, banks sprang up and grew into 

important institutions: every progressive nation founded them 

to help in the commerce of the world. It became possible to 

carry on business on a large scale because money was more 

plentiful and credit easier to obtain than ever before; great 

commercial companies arose.  

Europe was awake to the fact that a vast continent, 

wealthy beyond the dreams of the past, lay less than 3,000 

miles to the westward. It was easy to reach America, but the 

voyage took a long time and so large were the cargoes that had 

to be carried and so numerous were the adventurers and 

settlers who voyaged that the tiny vessels then in use were not 

big enough. Ships began to be made larger and better for the 

trade of South America. Besides, stronger ships armed for war 

were needed now, for the selfishness and greed of the 

European nations caused them to prey. on each other's 

commerce. A new era in ship-building resulted, therefore, 

from the discovery and colonization of South America.  

These treasure ships from South America drew to 

American waters adventurers from other nations of Europe, 

who also were learning to build better ships. It was not 

considered very wrong then for sailors of one nation to 

capture, by fair means or foul, the merchant ships of other 

nations. This piratical warfare went on in times when the 

nations themselves were at peace. A host of pirates, or 

buccaneers, skulked along the bays and rivers, waiting for 

these treasure ships; sometimes they even captured towns 

along the coast. The treasures of the New World were fair 

spoil for any who could take them. It was an age when bold 

sailors often made a fortune at a stroke. Such was the land and 

such were the adventurers that caused Europe almost to forget 

for the time the wealth of India and look westward. The 

continent that gave Europe a new lesson in the sixteenth 

century has a new lesson for the United States today.  

In this great contest for possession of the New World, 

Portugal strengthened her colonies in Brazil and developed an 

important empire.  

But what became of Haiti? The center of Spanish 

control passed from that historic island to Panama and thence 

to Peru. The story of this development will be told in 

following chapters. Unhappily, the later history of Haiti is a 

tale of cruel tyranny, misrule, and savage warfare.  

The Spaniards, lured on in their quest for gold, 

wellnigh deserted the island which might have become the 

center of a great nation and a prosperous people. Even the city 
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of Santo Domingo was allowed to decay. The Spaniards in 

their greed almost forgot that the remains of Columbus and his 

son lay sleeping beneath its walls. The little island that had 

once aroused the interest of the Old World became, within a 

few decades, the stamping-ground of pirates and buccaneers 

and the football of nations desiring a hold in the New World. 

Spain established more prosperous colonies in Panama, 

Mexico, and Peru, and had so little thought of Haiti that it lay 

almost unprotected: France without much difficulty took 

possession of it. Later the negroes, who had increased so 

greatly that they far outnumbered the white or mixed races, 

rose in 1791 under the leadership of Toussaint l'Ouverture, and 

finally overthrew French rule and established an independent 

government. This was the second negro republic in the New 

World. The other was in the interior of Brazil, where the 

negroes greatly outnumbered the Portuguese.  

The history of Haiti, since the republic came into 

being, is the story of a people's falling back to barbarism while 

struggling to erect something resembling civilized 

government. The first act of the negroes in western Haiti, on 

setting up their state, was to murder all the white people in that 

part of the island. The eastern portion of the island was largely 

Spanish, but the mixture of races and the threatening negroes 

to the west kept it in a state of turmoil and insurrection. The 

old civilization was fast passing away. The remains of 

Columbus and his son had been removed to Spain. Bandit 

warfare took the place of law and order. The negroes in the 

interior, no longer supported by civilization, went back to 

savagery and even to cannibalism, and the black rites of 

voodoo magic swept away the last traces of Christianity. The 

life of the African jungle appeared in the New World.  

In 1844, the republic of Santo Domingo, which 

embraces about two thirds of the island, was created, leaving 

the negro republic of Haiti to occupy the western third. The 

people of Santo Domingo are more Spanish than negro. They 

speak the Spanish language and are more capable of self-

government than the Haitians. The inhabitants of Haiti are 

mainly of negro blood and speak a dialect of their own, hardly 

understood by the people of any other nation. The people of 

Santo Domingo are hostile to the Haitians, and the two nations 

have frequently been at war.  

So low did the two governments in the island of Haiti 

fall, such a menace did they become to all nations trading in 

the waters about the island, so lost were they to the sense of 

right and justice, that the United States in 1915 was compelled 

to take over both of them in order to restore order and teach 

the people how to govern themselves. Thus the first attempt of 

the Spanish to found a colony in the New World resulted in 

failure, and the island of Haiti, instead of becoming a factor in 

world progress, is a serious problem in social and political 

control. If the United States takes its hands off Haiti, will it 

revert again to complete barbarism?  
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CHAPTER II  

PANAMAðGATEWAY OF THE WORLD  

Within a few years of Columbus's discovery of 

America, Spanish adventurers were coming to the New World 

by thousands to seek fortune. One of the most notable of these 

was Vasco Nunez de Balboa. As was stated in the previous 

chapter, he arrived at Santo Domingo in 1501 and obtained 

land in the neighborhood, on which he tried to cultivate sugar 

cane with little success, and it became necessary for him to 

leave the island secretly in order to avoid imprisonment for 

debt.  

Learning that two vessels would sail for San Sebastian 

for the purpose of carrying provisions to that newly-founded 

settlement, Balboa hid in a box of provisions and had the box 

carried from his farm to the ship. When he was discovered at 

sea, the captain of the vessel thought of sending him back to 

Santo Domingo, but Balboa begged to be allowed to go on 

with the party, and his request was granted. On reaching San 

Sebastian, the voyagers found the settlement in ruins. They 

then decided to sail for the Isthmus of Darien. This was in 

1510.  

Little was known at that time of the narrow strip of 

land connecting North and South America. Many Spaniards 

had touched the coast there at several points, but no one had 

gone inland. Balboa himself was as familiar with this section 

as any other Spaniard, since he had visited the isthmus on an 

exploring expedition a few years earlier. After the party landed 

a new colony was set up; but quarrels broke out; the captain 

was deposed, thrown into prison and finally sent back to 

Spain, and Balboa came to rule in his stead.  

Being now in control of the colony, Balboa began to 

extend his power over the surrounding country. By his 

bravery, courtesy, kindness of heart, and just dealing with the 

Indians, he gained the friendship of several of their chiefs. 

From them he heard for the first time of the great ocean on the 

other side of the mountains and of the marvelous stores of gold 

in Peru. Peru, however, could be reached only by sailing down 

the western coast of South America, which had not then been 

visited by any Spaniard. While these stories were taking hold 

of Balboa, an order came for him to return to Spain and 

answer for the part he had played in the rebellion that had 

resulted in his becoming the head of the Spanish colony on the 

Isthmus of Panama. In his despair over this command, Balboa 

resolved to attempt some great enterprise, the success of 

which, he trusted, would win the sovereign's pardon.  

On September 1, 1513, he set out with one hundred 

and ninety Spaniards and several hundred natives to discover 

the great ocean of which he had heard. After finding that, he 

planned to lead an expedition down into Peru. The natives had 

told him tales of cities, with palaces ornamented with gold, 

where food was served on golden plates.  

On the isthmus Balboa had married the daughter of an 

Indian chief. Through her he learned of the nearest way across 

the mountains. He followed this Indian route. The party 

pushed its way with great effort across streams, through 

dangerous jungles, and over steep mountain ridges. The 

isthmus is only about thirty-five miles wide at its narrowest 

point, but it is such a mass of twisted mountain ranges that 

crossing it proved to be a most difficult feat. This narrow 

chain of high mountains seems to be meant to weld the two 

continents together. After a terrible journey, on September 25, 

Balboa, standing on the summit of a mountain, saw the 

measureless stretch of a great ocean; and four days later, on 

September 29, he arrived on the shore. Rushing down into the 

water and waving the flag of his country over his head, he 

claimed the "Great South Sea," as he called it, and all the land 

touched by it, in the name of his sovereign, the king of Spain. 

Later (1519), Magellan in his wonderful voyage around the 
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world named the ocean "Pacific" because of its calm surface. 

The name Pacific has largely taken the place of the first name 

of South Sea.  

Balboa and his men remained on the Pacific coast for 

several days. There he heard again of the wonderful country of 

Peru to the south, and he was filled with a desire to build and 

equip some vessels to conquer it. The Indians on the Pacific 

coast had many ornaments of gold, from which fact it seemed 

likely to the Spaniards that they were on the eve of finding 

vast treasures.  

Many years before, the Spaniards came to the New 

World, the territory on the Pacific coast of the isthmus had 

been peopled by a race of Indians that mined much gold and 

silver. In their tombs were to be found golden images, golden 

ornaments, golden bells, and other articles of great value. 

Consequently, the Spaniards readily believed the stories told 

them of a superior race of Indians to the south, whose rulers 

lived in golden-covered palaces, bathed in basins lined with 

gold, and were served on vessels of solid gold.  

Balboa collected many gold ornaments, which he 

carried back to his colony on the eastern coast of the Isthmus 

of Darien. Some of these he sent to his king, together with the 

news of his great discovery. The king was so well pleased that 

he forgave Balboa for his past offenses and named him 

admiral of the South Sea and governor of the colony. Being 

thus granted legal authority, Balboa planned to build vessels 

on the Pacific coast and head an expedition into Peru.  

When the story of the great discovery was heard in 

Spain, the Spaniards began to lose interest in Haiti. They 

desired to explore the country from which the gold had come 

and visit the region washed by the South Sea. The number of 

colonies on the isthmus increased rapidly. The leaders grew 

hostile to each other, and more than once armed conflicts 

occurred. While Balboa was planning his expedition to Peru, 

Pedrarias Davila with a considerable force landed on the 

isthmus. Balboa and Pedrarias soon became jealous of each 

other. Balboa was finally arrested by Pedrarias on the charge 

of treason and thrown into prison. Pedrarias, now having his 

rival in his power, put him on trial for treason and forced the 

judge to condemn him to death. Balboa was publicly executed 

in 1517.  

His great discovery, however, had opened the way for 

the flow of wealth to Spain. Spaniards continued to arrive on 

the isthmus in increasing slumbers and soon they had a well-

made road across the mountains. Within two years of Balboa's 

death (1519) , a town was built on the Pacific coast by 

Pedrarias, which was called Panama, or "The Place of Fish," 

because of the abundance of fish found in the little bay on 

which the settlement was situated. This was the first city 

founded by Europeans on the American continent. The country 

around the town of Panama was fertile, and, as the number of 

settlers increased, great cattle farms and sugar plantations 

developed. Soon Panama became the most prosperous Spanish 

colony in the New World. Being on the Pacific coast, it was 

untroubled by the pirates, who swarmed in the Caribbean, and 

the people could live without fear of foreign invasion.  

In the centuries that have passed since the founding of 

Panama, this city has had many changes of fortune and has 

been in turn rich and powerful, poor and small, and again 

prominent. During the sixteenth century it was, with one 

exception to be mentioned in a later chapter, the strongest 

Spanish fortress and most important city in the New World. 

The harbor of Panama was filled with vessels built to ply 

along the coast, and through the streets of Panama flowed 

enough wealth on its way to Spain to support a vast empire. 

Here came great galleons, laden with gold and silver, from the 

countries to the south. Much of the gold and silver remained in 

Panama to enrich the inhabitants and adorn the city with costly 

palaces and cathedrals. As the city grew, it was laid off in truly 

Spanish style, having a wide plaza or open court around which 

were grouped the government buildings and palaces and 

cathedrals.  
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The Spaniards lived in the city, but they enslaved the 

Indians and imported negro slaves to work on the sugar 

plantations and cattle ranches or dig in the mines. They were 

cruel masters, desiring the service of laborers at the least 

possible expense. Therefore, few nations have made a worse 

reputation for cruelty than is theirs.  

The difficulty of carrying gold and silver across the 

isthmus to the vessels on the eastern coast was another cause 

contributing to the prosperity of Panama. It will be recalled 

that Balboa and his men were nearly a month making the first 

journey to the Pacific. Even the earliest settlers in Panama saw 

the necessity of digging a canal across the isthmus. The 

difficulty of doing this, however, was too great at that time, 

though a road was built over mountain passes, across streams, 

and through dangerous swamps and jungles filled with all sorts 

of reptiles, wild beasts, and insects. Travel between Panama 

and Europe went that way, except in those rare instances when 

an adventurer made the journey around Cape Horn. Moreover, 

all supplies coming from Spain were unloaded on the eastern 

shore and carried over on horse or mule-back to the Pacific 

coast. Immense quantities of goods were thus transported 

across the isthmus for a long period of time. When the 

Pilgrims landed in Massachusetts and established the first 

colony on that rock-bound coast, Panama was a hundred years 

old and had the appearance of a city situated on one of the 

famous highways of the world. Lines of caravans, made up of 

horses, mules or oxen, were constantly coming and going over 

a road worn deep by the unceasing traffic of a century.  

In the earlier days this great commerce tempted 

numbers of pirates to lurk along the northern coast of South 

America, lying in wait for the galleons freighted with gold and 

silver and other products going to Spain. Many schemes were 

formed to capture Panama, but the city seemed to be too 

secure to be taken. If a prize is large enough, however, 

someone will usually be found bold and daring enough to 

make any venture. Panama, however, was one hundred and 

fifty years old before it was even seriously threatened by the 

buccaneers who had made such daring raids on the Atlantic 

and Caribbean coasts of South America.  

In 1670, Henry Morgan, a Welshman, and the boldest 

buccaneer on the high seas, set to work to capture the city. An 

irregular war had been going on for some time between the 

English at Jamaica and the Spaniards, and Morgan held a sort 

of commission from the governor of Jamaica. Morgan sailed 

for the isthmus and ran his vessels up the Chagres River as far 

as possible: then with two thousand men, he began his journey 

across the isthmus. He had to avoid the old trade route in order 

to take the city by surprise. It was a risky march.  

The men were lost in the tangled woods and floundered 

around in swamps until they nearly starved to death. They 

carried few supplies, expecting to take food from the natives 

and from the Spanish plantations. It was easy for pirates to 

fight and capture ships, but impossible for them to escape the 

miseries caused by hunger, poisonous insects, and dangerous 

swamps. As a result, many of them died in the woods. But the 

old buccaneer, Morgan, knew that great booty lay just ahead 

and he urged his followers forward.  

Traders passing across the isthmus saw the vessels and 

heard of the large number of men that had disappeared in the 

wilderness. The inhabitants of Panama were warned. But the 

city had been secure for so many generations that little fear 

was felt at first. Then word came that the buccaneers were 

approaching. At this news the people were at length aroused. 

The entire male population was called out to defend the city. 

There was excitement and confusion little order. The officials 

called out the Indian and negro slaves and secured all the cattle 

that could be driven in. The slaves were formed into 

companies and threatened with death if they did not remain in 

front. About a thousand cattle, on which slaves were mounted, 

went ahead. Behind them the Spaniards were lined up to rush 

on the pirates after the slaves, riding on the cattle, had charged 

them and thrown them into confusion.  
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The Spaniards expected the cattle to stampede the 

pirates. They did not care what happened to the slaves. But the 

pirates proved to be too quick for them. They made a sudden 

assault on the column of cattle cavalry and frightened the 

slaves out of their wits. The shouts of the buccaneers, the 

deafening noise from their guns and their charge terrified the 

cattle, which, turning around in a panic, broke into the Spanish 

lines, creating confusion and consternation. The pirates 

charged behind the bellowing animals and gave no quarter, 

slaughtering all in their path.  

The Spanish soldiers fled in every direction and were 

slain by hundreds. The inhabitants of Panama were terror-

stricken. Some hurried into the swamps, others took to the 

vessels lying at anchor at the wharves. Women and children 

ran about the streets, helpless and deserted. Valuables were 

thrown into wells, carried out into the swamps, or placed on 

vessels and sent to sea. The pirates pursued the inhabitants and 

even made some who had sailed out to sea return. These 

fugitives were put to death.  

The city was looted. The invaders spent several days in 

robbing and pillaging and drinking and gambling. When they 

had gathered everything that was worth carrying away, they 

collected the horses and mules. Two hundred of them were 

loaded with rich spoils. The pirates then set fire to the city, 

which was completely destroyed. Returning to their vessels on 

the east coast, they divided the plunder. Morgan gained such 

wealth as a result of this adventure that he gave up his 

buccaneer life and went to England, where he was knighted by 

the king. He returned to Jamaica as lieutenant-governor.  

So thoroughly was Panama destroyed that today only a 

broken tower and a few arches and columns mark the site of 

the old city. Vines and shrubs and even trees grow over the 

ruins, so that travelers have to be shown where stood the 

ancient Panama.  

A new Panama, which likewise has its romance, was 

built near the site of the original town. However, Spain was 

growing weak, and trade across the isthmus had begun to 

decline even before the old city fell. Thus, the new town did 

not grow as quickly as had the former. England and France 

and the Dutch Republic had now become the great commercial 

countries. Yet even these nations felt the need of making a 

canal across the isthmus so that they might more easily reach 

the western coasts of the two continents.  

It was not until after the English colonists in North 

America had gained their independence, and the revolt of the 

Spanish colonies in the early nineteenth century, that the 

present city of Panama became prominent as a trade center. 

This time the gold of California gave life to the trade route 

across the isthmus. When gold was discovered in California, 

the people along the Atlantic coast of the United States went 

westward by thousands. That was in the days before the West 

was connected with the East by railroads, and overland travel 

from the Atlantic to the Pacific was most difficult. The easiest 

way was by sea to Panama, and thence by the Pacific up the 

coast to San Francisco. The old route followed by the 

Spaniards three centuries before became alive with gold-

seekers, who went in ships to Colon, crossed the isthmus on 

mule-back to Panama, and continued the journey by sea to 

California.  

In this way much of the gold of California flowed 

through the streets of Panama and helped to re-build the city. 

The inhabitants drove a prosperous trade with California gold-

seekers. It is said that they charged twenty-five cents apiece 

for eggs, and the ground rent for the space on which to swing a 

hammock for sleeping was two dollars a night. In Panama the 

gold-seekers had to buy provisions enough to last until they 

reached the coast of California. Many for the first time beheld 

in the markets of the city monkey meat and other tropical or 

semi-tropical food, which they learned to eat.  

In 1855 a railroad across the isthmus was completed. 

This was the first railroad to connect the Atlantic and the 

Pacific, and it at once became the most profitable railroad in 
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the world for its capital. No wonder! The rate was fifty cents a 

mile; the trip across cost twenty-five dollars. Panama was for a 

time the liveliest town on the Pacific coast, but when the 

Union Pacific Railroad crossing the United States was finished 

it lost much of its importance. This was regained when the 

United States decided to make the dream of the Spaniards, 

Portuguese, French, and English come true by digging a canal 

across the isthmus. All nations had seen the great value of 

such a canal, and France attempted it but failed. Finally in 

1902 the United States prepared to undertake the tremendous 

task.  

The great question was what was the best route for an 

Atlantic-Pacific canal across Panama or Nicaragua. The matter 

was decided by a revolution. The state of Panama, which had 

been a part of the United States of Colombia since the 

independence of the South American colonies, desired the 

canal to come to Panama. Being unable to secure the consent 

of Colombia, the people of Panama revolted, set up an 

independent government, and sold the United States a strip of 

land ten miles wide across the isthmus. This is known as the 

canal zone, for which the United States agreed to pay 

$10,000,000, with an annual rental of $250,000 for the canal 

privilege.  

When the United States decided to build the canal, few 

places in the world were more unhealthy than Panama. 

Consequently, it was necessary to drive yellow fever from the 

isthmus so that laborers might be able to work in safety. This 

task was given General William C. Gorgas of the United 

States army. It was a great task to put on any man, but he 

succeeded so thoroughly that the result of his work has had a 

vast importance for all the world and especially for South 

America. He first planned to kill the mosquito, since scientists 

had already shown that mosquitoes convey yellow fever and 

malaria. Three million barrels of oil were poured into the 

swamps and streams, and not only the mosquitoes but also 

their breeding-places were destroyed.  

 
 

GATUN LOCKS, PANAMA  CANAL   

But this was not all that he did. It is said that the 

engineers under his command "cut down each year five square 

miles of brush, drained one-third of a square mile of swamp, 

cut ten square miles of grass, maintained 530 miles of ditches, 

emptied 1,300,000 cans of garbage and fumigated 11,000,000 

cubic feet of residential space, all to stamp out the mosquito" 

and destroy the breeding-places. It was the greatest fight 

against a disease pest ever waged in history, and as a result 

Panama has become a healthy city.  

The task of building the canal went to General George 

W. Goethals. He was placed in charge of the work in 1907 

and, by August 15, 1914, the canal was practically completed 

at a total cost of about $700,000,000. On this date the first 

vessel carrying passengers passed through the great waterway. 

At the Caribbean end is the city of Colon (the Spanish name 

for Columbus) and at the Pacific end is Panama, the capital of 

the republic. Both cities, though partly in the canal zone, 
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belong to the republic of Panama. The canal is 43.84 miles 

long. Beginning on the Caribbean side, it follows the Chagres 

River until the latter stream reaches the mountains. By a series 

of locks, vessels are raised eighty-five feet to Gatun Lake. 

Thence for thirty-two miles, they move under their own power 

until they arrive at a point where a lake of one hundred and 

sixty-four square miles has been formed. Thence, by another 

series of locks, the boats are lowered to sea-level again.  

Panama, therefore, is at the threshold of a new life that 

will give fresh chapters to its history. Great merchant vessels 

go by daily, carrying the trade from the east to the west. The 

most powerful war vessels, immense floating arsenals, thunder 

with their guns in formal salute as they sail by on their errands 

of defense. The flags of all nations pass in review before the 

city. Such is the contrast between the modern water-way and 

the mule-road over the mountains in the days when, the old 

city was famous.  

How did the wealth of Peru find its way to Panama and 

why did the center of Spanish control pass from Panama to 

Peru? This development was made possible by the courage of 

another Spaniard, Francisco Pizarro, who carried out the plans 

of Balboa by first discovering and then conquering the land of 

Peru. His story will be told in the next chapter.  



Original Copyright 1922 by E.C. Brooks.    Distributed by Heritage History 2010 15 

CHAPTER III  

PIZARRO , THE GREAT ADVENTURER  

The question naturally arises why did the Spanish 

colonies in South America develop so rapidly in the sixteenth 

century? It was chiefly due to the tremendous power of Spain, 

whose sovereigns were the greatest rulers of the world in that 

century. Spain in the days of Ferdinand and Isabella had not 

been so strong a nation. Their grandson, Charles V., however, 

was not only king of Spain but also ruler of a territory 

including the Netherlands and much of Italy. Then he was 

elected king of Hungary and emperor of Austria and the 

German states, and later gained by discovery and conquest a 

large part of North and South America. He was known as the 

Emperor Charles V. He ruled over a wider territory and a 

larger population than any Christian sovereign had ever before 

done.  

In 1519, the year in which Charles V. became emperor, 

Cortez landed in Mexico and overthrew Montezuma, the ruler 

of that land, sending to Spain a vast quantity of gold. This 

enabled Charles V. to build palaces, raise armies, strengthen 

his empire, and equip other adventurers desiring to explore the 

New World. As was said in a previous chapter, England was 

too weak to compete with such a sovereign. France was the 

next most powerful nation, and the only one that could hope to 

check the growing ambition of the young emperor.  

Within a few years of Cortez's conquest of Mexico, 

Charles V. was surprised by the news that another Spaniard 

had led an expedition into Peru and opened a new country 

containing immense amounts of gold and silver. This was 

Francisco Pizarro, one of the most remarkable men that Spain 

has produced. Through him, Charles V. obtained further 

territory and more gold and silver than he had hitherto 

received from all other sources together.  

The life of Francisco Pizarro is a story of poverty, 

cruelty, hardship, and distress, followed by boundless success. 

Pizarro was born in Trujillo, Spain, about 1471. Few boys 

have had a more unpromising start, and yet few men have 

played so large a part in changing the current of history. 

Pizarro's mother was an ignorant peasant woman without a 

home and without friends. When this son was born, the 

mother, it is said, was lying in the doorway of a church by way 

of shelter. Later she and the child were taken to a wretched 

hovel, where the babe was brought up on the coarsest fare. His 

cradle was a bed of straw on the cobble-stone floor in a corner 

of the hut. Almost as soon as he could walk, the boy was hired 

out to feed hogs. In this way he got food. For every neglect of 

duty he was mercilessly beaten and abused as if he were not a 

human being. There were schools in those days in Trujillo, but 

the little swineherd had no time for learning. Early and late he 

toiled for the bread that barely nourished his body and the rags 

that scarcely covered his nakedness.  

Such inhuman treatment usually kills children or so 

hardens them that they turn into criminals. Francisco Pizarro 

did not die from ill-treatment and neglect, but his moral nature 

suffered. Nature, no doubt, intended him to be a great man, but 

the cruelties of his youth warped his character so that his after 

life reflected his early training. He grew to be hardened and 

cruel, careless of everything but his own interests.  

The brutality of his masters caused him, at the age of 

fifteen, to run away and join the Spanish army. The kings of 

France and of Spain were at war in Italy, and Spanish soldiers 

were being shipped there to protect the Italian dominions of 

the Spanish. Pizarro joined one of these expeditions. His 

courage, his endurance, and his ability attracted the attention 

of his officers, and before the war was over he became a 

lieutenant.  

After the war he went back with the army to Spain. 

Just at this time Columbus returned from his wonderful 

voyage to the New World, and all Spain was thrilled with the 
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stories the discoverer told. Young Pizarro, who was then 

twenty-one years old, determined to seek his fortune in 

America. Little is known of his adventures until Balboa 

crossed the Isthmus of Darien and discovered the Pacific 

Ocean. Pizarro made the journey with him and took an active 

part in the expedition. When the town of Panama was founded, 

he bought a plantation near it and became a stock-raiser. He 

had a large number of Indian slaves to work his fields and tend 

his cattle. He built a home in Panama and for a time lived like 

a Spanish nobleman, while his servants cultivated his land.  

The story of Cortez in Mexico and his conquest of that 

rich country fired the Spaniards with a new zeal. Thousands of 

adventurers were coming to the New World every year, and 

Panama was growing rapidly. In such a time of excitement, 

Pizarro was not content to live the easy life of a cattle-farmer. 

He, too, had heard wonderful stories of a country far to the 

south, where gold and silver and precious stones were 

plentiful. At length he formed a partnership with a priest 

named Hernando de Luque and a soldier, Diego de Almagro, 

for the purpose of exploration and conquest. They agreed to 

divide equally among themselves the rich empire which they 

hoped to conquer and about which they had heard so many 

tales.  

Two small vessels were fitted up for the voyage and a 

company of one hundred and twelve men was enlisted. By 

November 14, 1524, everything was ready. The governor of 

the colony, who was deeply interested in the success of the 

expedition, and other notables who had invested money in the 

enterprise, went down to the bay to see Pizarro and his 

company off. It was just four years after Cortez's thrilling 

conquest of Mexico. The vessels moved out of the bay, 

stopped a while at the Isle of Pearls, and then turned 

southward toward the unknown land. After exploring the coast 

for several days and finding provisions running low, the 

adventurers sent back one of the vessels. The condition of the 

voyagers, waiting on the shore, soon became desperate. 

Without provisions, and with little hope of obtaining food, 

their troubles were increased by a deadly fever that carried off 

many of them. Moreover, the natives were hostile, and some 

of Pizarro's men were killed by them.  

The governor of Panama, learning of the hardships of 

the party through the vessel that returned, sent another ship 

with supplies and with an order for Pizarro to bring his 

followers back to Panama. But Pizarro had no intention of 

returning until he had accomplished his purpose. Drawing a 

line in the sand with his sword, he stepped in front of his men 

and invited all who wished to go back to Panama to cross the 

line. All but thirteen stepped over the line. They departed to 

report to the governor that Pizarro had disobeyed his orders.  
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Pizarro and the thirteen faithful were left alone, almost 

without food and among hostile natives. So far the expedition 

had been a failure, and all of Pizarro's wealth had been lost in 

the venture. The explorers existed as best they might. They 

sailed out on a raft to an island, where they shot game with 

their cross-bows. For five months they lingered on this 

unhealthy island, half-starved and with the clothing rotting 

from their limbs.  

The governor of Panama, angered at Pizarro's 

disobedience, sent another vessel with supplies and with 

positive orders to bring him and his men back to Panama. 

When this craft reached the island, Pizarro and his companions 

hardly looked like civilized beings. But the adventurer still 

refused to return. Instead, he talked with the newcomers, who 

were full of the spirit of adventure, and at last persuaded a 

small number of them to venture with his party further down 

the coast. Setting out, they soon came to a region where they 

saw natives wearing gold ornaments. Pizarro was greatly 

pleased, believing that he was near the rich country of which 

he had heard so much. A little later, the eager company 

entered the Gulf of Guayaquil, which indents the shores of 

Ecuador. The prospects there were encouraging. Pizarro 

questioned the natives who came down to the shore to meet 

him. They told him that on the coast of the mainland further 

south stood a great city named Tumbez, which Pizarro at once 

determined to visit.  

As the explorers cruised along the coast, a town of 

some size came into view, the sight of which filled Pizarro 

with amazement. He saw a strongly fortified city, with temples 

and palaces and aqueducts carrying water from the mountains 

to the houses. He saw broad, paved streets, stone buildings, 

and men and women dressed in gay colors and wearing rings, 

bracelets, and chains of pure gold. He marveled at the sight 

and learned that he was at last in the land of the Incas, the land 

from which so many wonderful stories had come. The city was 

Tumbez.  

If you will look at the map of South America, you will 

see that Peru extends northward to the Gulf of Guayaquil and 

that Tumbez is situated at the northern extremity, near the 

gulf. The Indians of the city were friendly, giving Pizarro 

plenty of food and inviting him to visit their homes.  

After spending several days at Tumbez and visiting 

many points of interest, Pizarro decided to return and tell the 

governor of Panama of what he had seen. He was determined, 

also, to carry the news to Spain and inform the emperor of the 

new land added to his dominions by this discovery.  

After Pizarro had collected as much gold as he could 

secure without angering the natives and after thanking the 

Peruvians for their kindness and promising to come back, he 

took his departure, resolved to return shortly and conquer the 

country. He hastened to Panama. Notwithstanding his glowing 

report, Pizarro secured little encouragement from the governor 

of Panama, who remembered that he had disobeyed orders and 

sacrificed a number of men in order to carry out his plans. 

Besides, the governor was jealous of the popularity of the new 

leader. Pizarro, therefore, decided to hasten on to Spain, to tell 

the emperor about Peru. He rode across the isthmus, taking 

with him such articles as he had obtained on his voyage, and 

soon was on the sea bound for Spain. He believed that when 

he told his story he could secure sufficient help and 

encouragement to conquer the new country and rule over it.  

The emperor was highly pleased at what he heard and 

saw and at once gave Pizarro permission to conquer the land 

and add it to his vast dominions. Moreover, he appointed the 

discoverer governor-general of the new territory. Thus, Pizarro 

was following closely the footsteps of Cortez. He was now 

independent of the governor of Panama.  

His next step was to secure men, ammunition, horses, 

and equipment for the great venture that he was getting ready 

to make. There were so many things to do and so many 

difficulties to overcome in preparing his expedition that it was 

nearly six years before he saw Tumbez again. When he set sail 
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from Spain, he had two vessels and about two hundred men. 

There were cannon, which he expected to use in overawing the 

natives, and horses to aid in carrying his supplies and in 

moving swiftly across the country. The Peruvians had no 

horses, no cannon, and no muskets. Their weapons were 

spears and bows and arrows.  

On arriving at the isthmus, Pizarro had to unload and 

transport all his equipment across on horseback. But when he 

entered Panama this time, he was equal in power and dignity 

to the governor. However, he called on the latter and obtained 

his aid for the approaching expedition to Peru.  

His next act was to secure two more vessels. This was 

a difficult task; it is said that he had to wait for one of them to 

be built. When all was in readiness, he set sail for Peru. 

Coming into the Gulf of Guayaquil, he reached Tumbez a 

second time (1531).  

Pizarro now had an opportunity to study the land of the 

Incas. He moved cautiously, laying his plans for conquest and 

observing everything carefully. It was a wonderful country the 

Spaniards beheld. They found it hard to believe that all they 

saw was true, that a civilized nation actually existed in the 

world, at such a distance from Europe. It was a country which 

had made considerable progress, though the development was 

so unique that Pizarro and his men were puzzled in trying to 

understand it.  

There were all grades of poverty and a high degree of 

progress. The better class of people lived in houses built of 

stone and had beautiful fields irrigated with water brought 

down from the mountains, since there was little rain near the 

coast. The more prosperous people were dressed in fine fabrics 

unlike anything that Europeans wore. Around the villages and 

towns were herds of tame cattle different from any the 

Spaniards had ever seen. These were llamas or Peruvian sheep, 

which were used as beasts of burden and for food.  

The Spaniards saw temples of the sun and moon, and 

palaces belonging to the Inca, built of stone and containing 

queer devices of gold and silver and hangings of gorgeous 

cloth. In many places these buildings were surrounded by 

luxurious gardens of plants and flowers of every size and 

color. The explorers also saw public baths, filled with water 

brought down from the mountain streams and flowing through 

silver pipes into broad basins of shining gold.  

This lavish display of the precious metals made the 

Spaniards stare with wonder. Evidently, the Peruvians did not 

attach the same value to gold and silver that the Spaniards did, 

for the natives freely gave the visitors enough of these 

precious metals to make them rich for life.  

As the Spaniards advanced through the country, they 

saw among the lofty crags or dotted over the plains busy towns 

and villages, connected by well-constructed roads, some of 

which ran straight from village to village while others zig-

zagged around mountain coves and over ridges.  

There were caravans of llamas moving slowly along 

the roads, carrying provisions or merchandise. Sometimes as 

many as a thousand llamas were in one train, creeping along 

with small packages on their backs. The Spaniards learned that 

these beasts of burden were very tame and gentle, that their 

flesh was the best of food, and that their wool was used for 

clothing. Moreover, they learned that the llamas lived on the 

wild grass which was very plentiful in the villages and thus 

cost the owners nothing for keep.  

There was another sheep closely resembling the llama. 

This was the alpaca. The Spaniards found that the rough 

clothing of laborers, the garments of the king, and the dresses 

of court ladies were made from this alpaca wool, which, as we 

well know, is capable of being woven into the finest cloth.  

What astonished Pizarro and his men more than 

anything else was the well-cultivated land, especially the 

wonderful hanging gardens. Students have read of the Hanging 
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Gardens of Babylon, which were considered one of the "Seven 

Wonders of the World." The reader may ask, "What is a 

hanging garden?" It is a series of terraces on the side of a steep 

hill or mountain. Those of Babylon are said to have been only 

about seventy-five feet high, but the gardens that Pizarro and 

his men beheld were much loftier. One mountain side had 

more than fifty terraces, of ten feet each, which thus formed a 

stairway as high as the Washington Monument.  

One writer says, "The sides of the mountain had been 

transformed by long and patient labor into terraces which, 

rising one above the other, as far as the eye could reach, 

support luxuriant gardens and fauns, rich in fruits, flowers, 

shrubs and vegetables of almost every degree of climate and 

temperature."  

It is said that these beautiful terraces, built tier upon 

tier up the mountain side, were monuments to the rulers. Other 

nations much older than Peru erected great monuments or 

pyramids, such as are found in Rome or Egypt. But the 

Peruvians, it seems, believed that the most glorious memorial 

a king could have was a terrace that produced food for those 

who cultivated it. Which do you think had the better idea, the 

Romans and Egyptians or the Peruvians?  

The Spaniards, furthermore, saw fields which showed a 

greater knowledge of agriculture than the people of Spain 

themselves had. The Peruvians understood the value of 

fertilizer and used the guano from the nearby islands. Guano 

was not found by Europeans to have any use until near the 

beginning of the eighteenth century. But the Peruvians placed 

such high value on it as an aid to agriculture that they 

protected the birds that made the great deposits. It seems, 

therefore, that the Peruvians had the first laws for protecting 

birds.  

The Peruvians could have given the Spaniards valuable 

lessons in agriculture, if the latter had been interested in 

anything except gold and silver. Sometimes; when it was 

necessary to have water for their fields, the natives built long 

aqueducts; sometimes they changed the course of streams, and 

barren lands that never saw any rain were made to blossom 

and yield abundantly.  

Agriculture was more highly developed in the land of 

the Incas than in most of the European countries of that day. 

Peru was the home of the potato, both the sweet and Irish. 

Maize or Indian corn was in a better state of cultivation here 

than anywhere else in America. The pineapple, the bean, the 

gourd, the tomato, cotton, and a variety of other plants were to 

be found. In fact, more plants seem to have been domesticated 

in the Peruvian region at that time than in any other section of 

the world.  

But Pizarro was not much impressed by what he saw of 

the native agriculture; he wanted gold and silver. He wanted 

wealth, which comes most quickly through the precious 

metals. The Peruvians observed that the Spaniards attached a 

particular value to these metals and they began to wonder why. 

They wished to know the purpose of these visitors in coming 

to their land.  

Pizarro and his companions saw a well-governed 

country. The Inca was absolute monarch and his word was 

law, but the people respected his government and honored 

him. They were honest and law-abiding: it is said that it was 

difficult to find a thief among them. The story is told of an 

Indian who had 100,000 pieces of gold and silver stored away 

in his house. The door was never locked; the owner, when 

away, merely left a little stick across the doorsill as a sign that 

he was out; and nobody ever molested his treasure.  

Pizarro realized that he had found a superior race of 

Indians. When he saw that they actually did have what 

appeared to be an unlimited amount of gold and silver, he 

determined to conquer the country as soon as possible. He 

went among the Indians in order to learn as much as possible 

from them before making his purpose plain. One surprise after 

another greeted him.  
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Once while he was riding across the country, his horse 

lost a shoe. As the Spaniards had no iron, the natives supplied 

Pizarro with a metal from which a horseshoe was made. It was 

a shoe of solid silver!  

Pizarro saw paths, from one foot to three feet wide, 

leading from the seacoast to the interior. On inquiring, he 

learned that these paths were the special roads for bringing 

fish to the Inca. The ruler ate fresh fish for breakfast but he 

lived many miles from the seacoast. Fish were brought, 

therefore, by relays of swift runners who covered incredible 

distances. A fish would be caught the evening before and the 

runners, stationed at intervals of a few miles apart, carried it 

nearly a hundred miles to the Inca. Thus he had fish for 

breakfast. The remains of these foot-paths are still preserved.  

Pizarro heard of the wonderful palaces and baths of the 

Inca, which existed in every important place. One was at Quito 

on the top of a mountain; one was in Chile, and at Lake 

Titicaca there was a great temple with baths of gold. The 

explorer wished to see all these places, but he especially 

desired to visit the capital, Cuzco, which lay somewhat 

southwest of the central part of Peru, several hundred miles 

distant from Tumbez. There lived the Inca, Atahualpa.  

What Pizarro and his men beheld on every hand 

exceeded the wonderful stories that had traveled up the coast 

to Panama. But there were other sights surpassing those with 

which they had become familiar. The Indians were at first very 

friendly and showed a disposition to give Pizarro and his men 

all the information that the latter could possibly desire. The 

ruling classes seemed to take a great pride in their country, and 

when they saw that the Spaniards represented a civilization 

different from theirs and, in some respects superior, they 

desired the friendship of the foreigners.  

Historians say that for many years there had been 

unrest in this far-away country and that different pretenders to 

the throne had been striving for supremacy, but that Atahualpa 

finally triumphed. His last conflict was with his brother, 

Huascar, whom he defeated and cast into prison. He put to 

death a number of chieftains who had been unfriendly to him. 

His triumph was complete, and when the Spaniards entered the 

country he was the absolute sovereign of a territory almost as 

large as that of Charles V. of Spain. It took in most of the 

Andean country; it extended southward and included northern 

Chile; eastward, and much of Argentina, Brazil, and Bolivia; 

northward, and Ecuador, with a capitol at Cuzco, several 

hundred miles southeast of Tumbez. Such was the land of the 

Incas, the land which Pizarro desired to conquer for Spain and 

for himself.  
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CHAPTER IV  

PERU, THE EMPEROR'S TREASURE CHEST 

When Francisco Pizarro arrived in Peru, he had no idea 

of the size or the wealth of Atahualpa's country, but he had 

authority to take possession of it and send back to the emperor 

one-fifth of all the precious metals obtained. The remainder 

was to be divided between Pizarro and his men.  

 

 
 

LLAMAS  LADEN WITH ORE CROSSING A RIVER  

On the landing of the second expedition in Peru, the 

Spaniards presented a different front toward the natives from 

that of their first visit. Even before they landed they convinced 

the Indians that their purpose was unfriendly. Before reaching 

Tumbez, Pizarro commanded his men to fire off cannon in 

order to overawe the natives along the coast. The threat was 

successful, for the latter were so badly frightened that they all 

fled. The Spaniards found the little villages by the shore 

deserted, and, on entering the abandoned huts, they came 

across food in abundance, besides many articles of gold and 

silver and much fine cloth made from alpaca wool. Pizarro put 

on board the ships a considerable portion of the treasures 

captured and sent back to Panama for more men. He believed 

that he had force enough to hold out until reinforcements 

arrived and that he could secure an abundance of food in the 

country. He saw the vessels depart and then marched 

southward.  

In a few days the expedition reached Tumbez, but, to 

the surprise of all, this town also was deserted. Most of the 

buildings had been destroyed, and the treasures had been 

carried away. Pizarro learned that Atahualpa, the ruler of all 

the Peruvians, was encamped at Cajamarca, about three 

hundred miles to the south of them. Cajamarca, one of the 

capitals of the country, was situated on a mountain plateau at 

an elevation of about 9,000 feet. The commander sent De 

Soto, who later became famous for his explorations in North 

America, with a picked body of men, to investigate and report 

on the size of the Inca's army and his purpose. De Soto 

returned after several days, accompanied by a messenger from 

Atahualpa, who extended to the visitors a welcome to his 

kingdom, inviting Pizarro to visit Cajamarca.  

The invitation was accepted, and immediately the 

Spaniards began their journey to that place, which was even 

more imposing than Tumbez: Several days were spent on the 

way; everywhere along the line of march the Spaniards saw 

signs of great wealth.  

When Pizarro entered the beautiful valley in which 

Cajamarca lies, as one writer says, "he could plainly discern 

the glistening white houses, the fortresses perched upon rocks, 

and the square temples of the town; and, extending his glance 

beyond, he could just see the white tents of the Inca's camps, 

dotting the plain and hillsides in the hazy distance."  

A messenger was sent to Atahualpa to announce that 

Pizarro had arrived and that he wished to meet the great ruler 

as "a friend and brother." The Inca received the messenger 

courteously and replied that he would visit the Spanish 

chieftain on the following day and extend a welcome to the 
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pale-face soldiers from over the sea. It is probable that the 

Indian emperor was the victim of a fatal curiosity to see the 

newcomers.  

The messengers, returning, reported that they had been 

treated with great kindness by the Inca, who seemed well-

disposed and very desirous to visit Pizarro. They reported also 

that they had seen many articles of fine gold, that the nobles 

had rich ornaments, and that the Inca's meals were served in 

vessels of pure gold. In fact, it was difficult for Pizarro to 

conceive of so much gold in ordinary use as his messengers 

reported.  

The Spanish leader now conceived a bold scheme. He 

announced to his lieutenants that it was his purpose to take the 

Inca prisoner when he visited him the following day. 

Remembering that Cortez by a bold stroke had captured 

Montezuma in Mexico, Pizarro believed it would be just as 

easy to seize the Inca of Peru; and, holding him captive, he 

might be able to rule the whole country through the prisoner. 

In such a way did the crafty Spaniard plan to meet Atahualpa 

as a "friend and brother."  

Next morning Pizarro drew up his horsemen in battle 

array and formed his foot-soldiers so as to make a striking 

spectacle. Soon messengers announced that the royal 

procession was approaching. A little later the Peruvian army 

was observed passing through the city gates. Four hundred 

Indian boys came first, singing as they marched at the head of 

the column. They were followed by a thousand men dressed in 

a uniform of red and white squares, like a chess board. Other 

troops, clad in pure white and carrying silver hammers, came 

in large numbers. Then appeared the royal personage in regal 

splendor. Eighty chieftains in costumes of azure bore a 

glittering throne on which, high above their heads, sat the Inca, 

adorned with plumes of various colors and almost covered 

with sheets of gold and silver crusted with precious stones. 

Behind him came the chief officers of his court, carried in the 

same manner. Several bands of singers and dancers followed, 

while the whole plain seemed to be covered with troops. The 

Spaniards estimated the number of the natives at over 30,000.  

Pizarro sent a priest to meet Atahualpa and to 

announce that he himself was now the lawful ruler of the 

country, having been appointed to govern it by the greatest 

monarch in the whole world. Atahualpa expressed 

astonishment. He seemed to scorn the priest, who shrank back 

at his gesture of disapproval. Thereupon Pizarro gave the 

signal for an attack on the unsuspecting Indians. Immediately 

martial music broke forth. The cannon roared with a deafening 

noise and spread death and destruction on every hand. The 

foot-soldiers charged with muskets and pikes. Horsemen 

rushed out with fiendish yells. The Peruvians were so much 

astonished and frightened that they fled panic-stricken in every 

direction, except the bodyguard around the king, which sought 

to protect him to the last. The land of Peru had never 

witnessed such a tumult. Everywhere the Peruvians, seized 

with superstitious fear, rushed hither and thither without aim, 

desiring only to escape the fearful noise and massacre.  

It was Pizarro's order that the king should not be hurt. 

He believed that the people would be more impressed if they 

knew that he was powerful enough to capture the Inca with a 

small force and hold him a prisoner rather than kill him. Then, 

too, he might be able to dictate to the people if he had the king 

in his possession. But though the Peruvian army was scattered, 

it was not easy to take the Inca. His bodyguards fought 

desperately. However, they were overpowered and slaughtered 

to a man, and Pizarro, pushing his way through the carnage, 

seized the Inca and dragged him away a prisoner, while his 

soldiers, pursuing the Peruvians, continued to slay them by 

thousands. Probably there was never a war with less 

provocation, but such was the character of the man who had 

come to rule over this new country. He was without 

conscience and without pity.  

At first the Inca could hardly believe that he was a 

captive. But he soon realized his situation and saw that Pizarro 
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was a man who coveted gold and silver above everything else. 

After the confusion of battle, the conqueror and his royal 

prisoner entered one of the Inca's palaces. Knowing that 

Pizarro would do anything for gold, Atahualpa sought to buy 

his freedom. This was just what Pizarro wanted, for he 

believed the treasures of the country would now be opened to 

him.  

The two were in a room about twenty-two feet long 

and sixteen feet wide. Atahualpa offered to fill this room with 

gold as high as his upstretched arm extended if Pizarro would 

free him and leave the country. Pizarro at once agreed and, 

drawing a line along the wall as far up as he could reach, he 

told Atahualpa to notify his countrymen that when the room 

was filled to that line the latter would be set free. If the 

promise were not kept, however, the Inca would be put to 

death.  

Hoping thus to secure his liberty, Atahualpa sent 

messengers throughout the country directing the people to 

bring in the gold. Lines of llamas, hundreds long, came 

bearing the precious metal. Men brought it in on their backs; 

some of them walked six hundred miles with it. The time for 

ransom extended into weeks and months, but still the bearers 

came bringing gold.  

The capital, Cuzco, was about thirty days' journey 

south from Cajamarca. This was the greatest city of the Incas. 

It was a rich town with gorgeous temples which had, it is said, 

floors and walls of pure gold. Soon after the capture of 

Atahualpa, Pizarro's vessels returned from Panama with 

additional troops. He now determined to push on as soon as 

possible to Cuzco. In the meantime, Atahualpa had an 

opportunity to study his captors. The point in which they 

surprised him most was in their ability to read and write. He 

had never seen anything like it before. In this one respect he 

knew the Spaniards to be superior to the Peruvians, whose 

only writing was picture-writing. He took so much interest in 

the art of writing that his anguish at being a captive was 

somewhat lessened, and he expressed a desire to learn to read 

and write.  

One day he had one of Pizarro's men write something 

on his thumb-nail. It was the Spanish word "Dios," which 

means God. The Inca then asked every soldier that came in 

what it was, and each gave the same answer. This entertained 

him very much. When Pizarro entered, Atahualpa asked him 

what was written on his thumb-nail Pizarro made no reply. It 

was then that the Inca discovered that Pizarro could not read. 

By this he knew that his captor was a low-born man. 

Atahualpa's manner toward him changed at once, which made 

Pizarro furious.  

Every day, however, the gold was coming in, and the 

promise of the Inca was on the point of being fulfilled. In the 

meantime, Pizarro had been entrenching himself in the country 

in every way possible. Still it seemed necessary to him to get 

rid of Atahualpa. As the captive Inca interfered with his plans 

of conquest, Pizarro decided to have him tried for treason on 

the pretext that he was secretly communicating with his 

followers and stirring them up to attack the Spaniards.  

Thereupon Atahualpa was brought before a court and 

found guilty of treason. The sentence was that he should be 

burned at the stake, but that if he gave up his religion and 

accepted Christianity he would be strangled instead. The 

unhappy Inca could not understand the sentence, but he 

accepted the easier fate. Surrounded by Pizarro's soldiers, he 

was tied to a stake and choked to death. His body was burned. 

Thus ended the career of the greatest ruler of the Indians.  

The news of his execution was carried throughout the 

empire. Before resistance to the cruelty and oppression of the 

Spaniards could be organized, Pizarro had a younger brother 

of Atahualpa crowned as Inca in the midst of great pomp and 

ceremony, in order to serve as a tool for his government.  

The treasure brought in made the whole army of 

Spaniards rich, even after the emperor's fifth part had been set 
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aside. Pizarro's brother was appointed to take it to Spain and 

deliver it in person to Charles V. The Indians submitted 

readily to the new Inca. The use of one language by most of 

the natives in the great empire made it easy for Pizarro to 

clench his conquest. The Indians, accustomed to obey their 

rulers, continued to obey after the rulers had changed.  

 

 
 

INCA THRONE AT CUZCO  

Soon after Atahualpa's death, Pizarro set out to take 

possession of Cuzco. With him went the new Inca, whom he 

treated with great respect in order to impress the natives, for 

he expected to rule the Peruvians through him. After a long 

journey, covering nearly thirty days, they came to Cuzco, the 

capital. The ruins of that city today tell something of its 

greatness before the conquest. Pizarro entered it with no 

opposition. The Spanish soldiers were prohibited from going 

into private homes, but they freely entered the temples and 

palaces. Without scruple they tore down the golden plates and 

ornaments that adorned the walls and, in their greed for gold, 

invaded the tombs of the dead and robbed the corpses. In 

caverns and in public magazines were brought. to light a mass 

of gold vessels and strange utensils, fine cloth, golden sandals, 

and an abundance of grain and other food. 

The Spaniards found so much gold that, night after 

night, the soldiers gambled away enough of it to enrich the 

kings of Europe. Pizarro had a huge pile of gold vessels and 

ornaments melted down; and again a fifth was set aside and 

sent to Spain for the emperor, who was fast becoming very 

wealthy from the returns from Peru alone.  

Pizarro carried the young Inca into the palace of his 

fathers, where, surrounded by an immense crowd of natives, 

the latter was formally crowned ruler of Peru. The natives 

clamored their approval, and the Inca accepted the empty 

honors, not realizing that he was both the creature and the tool 

of the Spaniards. Thus did Peru pass from an independent 

nation into a province of the Emperor Charles V. Nevertheless, 

it was more than a mere province. It was one of the main props 

of the empire. It was a treasure chest, from which the emperor 

drew the wealth that made his court the most luxurious in 

Europe.  

But Pizarro was not destined to enjoy for many years 

the ease and peace that might have come to a juster conqueror. 

He had murdered the rightful ruler of Peru. He had massacred 

thousands of natives. He had tortured and put to death priests 

and other officials who stood in his way. He had visited the 

most brutal punishments on those who disobeyed him. He had 

enslaved the Indians and made them toil for the Spaniards. 

Moreover, he had not dealt fairly with his own men. Many 

were jealous of his power, and even his highest officials 

questioned his integrity. Therefore, some of his own company 

turned against him and incited the Indians to revolt. Pizarro 

had to fight the Peruvians and, also, a part of the Spaniards 

themselves.  

Adventurers from Panama, learning of his wonderful 

discoveries, came to Peru. Many of them were as 

conscienceless as Pizarro. Large numbers joined the 

dissatisfied Spaniards in an attempt to break his power. 
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Pizarro's early life had soured the milk of human kindness in 

him. He now fought his leading lieutenant, Almagro, with the 

same ferocity with which he had fought poverty in his youth, 

and when he made prisoners of Almagro and his followers he 

put them to death.  

The conqueror moved the capital from Cuzco in 1535 

and founded the city of Lima, about six miles from the coast, 

Within a few years the center of Spanish control in the New 

World passed from Panama to Lima. For nearly two hundred 

years Lima was not only the capital of the Spanish possessions 

in South America but one of the important cities of the world.  

However, Pizarro did not live long after founding 

Lima, "The City of the Kings," as it was called. Even his own 

countrymen would not submit to his tyranny. He was 

constantly at war with them as well as with the natives. He met 

cruelty with cruelty, treachery with treachery. Finally, on June 

26, 1541, deserted even by his formerly faithful attendants, he 

was assassinated in his own palace by some of Almagro's 

followers. Thus ended the life of a man who was too brutal 

and cruel to have many friends and too crafty to be a great 

statesman. Yet his conquest laid the foundation of Spain's 

dominion over all South America except Brazil. Enough gold 

was shipped from Peru to enrich a great empire, and it is said 

that sufficient silver was discovered and sent to Europe to 

encircle the globe seven times over had it been minted into 

coins and the coins laid edge to edge. No wonder that Peru 

was called "The Emperor's Treasure Chest."  
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CHAPTER V 

L IMA , THE CITY OF THE K INGS 

The spot chosen by Pizarro for the new capital of Peru 

was in the beautiful valley of the Rimac River, a few miles 

from its mouth. Here the cool currents from the snow-capped 

mountains and the soft breezes from the Pacific meet and 

produce an ideal climate. It was there, in January, 1535, that 

Pizarro founded "the City of the Kings," named after the three 

wise men of the East who came to see the infant Christ. Later 

its name was changed to Lima. It has remained the capital of 

Peru from that time to this.  

Lima has been captured by hostile armies several times 

since its foundation. Sixteen times it has been injured by 

earthquakes, and twice almost completely destroyed. Yet it is 

still a city of nearly a quarter of a million population and one 

of the most beautiful and interesting places in the western 

world.  

The gold and silver discovered in Peru and sent to 

Spain drew Europeans to South America by thousands. From 

Peru they crossed the mountains and settled in Argentina and 

Bolivia and Paraguay. They moved southward and established 

colonies in Chile. They stopped on their way to Peru and 

founded settlements in Ecuador, Colombia, and Venezuela.  

In 1544, just three years after the death of Pizarro, Peru 

was made a viceroyalty, under a ruler called viceroy, which 

title meant that he was acting in all matters for the king. 

Moreover, he was given jurisdiction over "the entire continent 

of South America." Lima, therefore, became the capital of all 

the Spanish colonies in South America. The city of Panama 

was eclipsed by the growing importance of the City of the 

Kings, and long before there was a single English colony in 

the New World the governor of Peru had become the most 

powerful Spanish ruler next to the monarch himself.  

Lima was a typical Spanish city. It was built around a 

great plaza or open square, which was the center of the place. 

Roads extended from it to all the provinces, and traders from 

every part of South America brought their wares to the plaza 

to be bartered or sold. Lima, therefore, became the great 

meeting-place for all Spanish South America. Lines of 

caravans from the Atlantic coast came winding slowly across 

the pampas of Argentine and over the mountains bearing their 

merchandise. Negroes from the upper Amazon bore baskets of 

cloth and woolen stuff. Indians from the mountains and plains 

and explorers from Ecuador and Bolivia brought silver and 

gold. Farmers from Chile came laden with wine and wheat. 

All met in the streets of Lima, the proud capital.  

The viceroy of Peru was the highest civil and military 

officer on the continent. At Lima he had a magnificent palace 

and an elaborate court, which rivaled that of the king of Spain. 

Here the supreme judges of all the continent had their palaces; 

they maintained a style as regal as that of the courts of Europe. 

Likewise, here resided many noble Spanish families, whose 

wealth and social distinction gave the City of the Kings much 

gilded splendor. Here were large cathedrals and monasteries, 

and here the dreaded tribunal of the Inquisition had its chief 

colonial seat. Here also was situated the first university of the 

New World, that of San Marcos, which was opened in 1551, 

nearly a century before Harvard college was founded. It was 

modeled after the great University of Salamanca in Spain, one 

of the most famous seats of learning in Europe.  

It was in Lima that the Countess of Cinchona, a 

beautiful Spanish lady, was residing in the seventeenth 

century, when she was stricken with a fever that alarmed the 

capital. The natives told of a tree, the bark of which contained 

a cure for this dreaded malady. The physicians of those days 

had not learned the cause of malarial fever, nor had they 

discovered an effective remedy. But they sent for this bark, 
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from which a tea was made and given to the Countess of 

Cinchona. She immediately began to improve. The tea was 

very bitter, almost too bitter to swallow, but she drank it until 

she was well again.  

This bark was a more valuable discovery than the gold 

Pizarro found, for it has saved perhaps millions of lives from 

malarial fever. It was the substance from which quinine is 

made, and is known as Peruvian bark. The natives were urged 

to bring in more of this bark, which was shipped to Europe, to 

North America, and to every quarter of the globe. Strangers 

came from all over the world to see the trees from which the 

valuable drug is extracted. They learned to grind it and make a 

fine white powder from it, which is called quinine. One tree 

about sixty feet high and six feet in circumference yields, it is 

said, about a thousand pounds of bark and produces about 

$3,000 worth of quinine. A forest of these trees would be 

worth as much as a gold mine.  

The Spaniards had discovered not only the center of 

the world's supply of gold, but the greatest medicine in the 

world. Other nations have since transplanted the cinchona tree. 

India, Java, Algeria, and even the United States grow it. For 

many years Peruvian bark collectors made great fortunes by 

selling their product to the different countries of the world. 

Finally, as other nations learned to cultivate the cinchona tree, 

the center of the quinine industry passed from Peru.  

Across the mountains to the east were vast areas of 

prairie lands, or pampas, as they are called. When the 

Spaniards first entered this country, there were no horses or 

cattle on the plains, but within a few years the imported stock, 

turned loose, multiplied rapidly. Many escaped from their 

owners into the limitless prairies. Within a century, millions of 

cattle and horses flourished on the rich grass and roamed wild 

over the plains. Nature seemed to have given the Spaniards an 

opportunity to found one of the greatest countries in the world. 

Gold, silver, and other precious metals, plants that produced 

effective medicines, a variety of food all abounded here.  

Students will ask the question why was it that from the 

City of Kings a wise government did not extend to all the 

Spanish colonies? The cause is not difficult to find. In the first 

place, no nation at that time had learned to govern its colonies 

wisely. The chief object in founding colonies was to enrich the 

mother country. In the second place, no people ever 

worshipped gold and silver more entirely than did the 

Spaniards. They did not migrate in families and seek to build 

up a great nation. Comparatively few Spanish women settled 

in South America, but thousands of Spanish men came over 

and intermarried with the natives or the negroes. As a result, a 

race of half-breeds sprang up, on whom the Spaniards looked 

as inferiors. They gave these half-breeds little or no part in the 

government. Thus there was a large population of mixed 

breeds governed by a handful of pure-blooded Spaniards.  

The Spaniards, in colonizing a country, planned to live 

in towns or villages, or, if in the country, on large estates of 

which they were lords and masters. Usually, they lived in 

towns and enslaved the natives, requiring them to cultivate the 

fields and give them the fruits of their labor. The foreigners, 

other than the Spaniards, who came to the country were 

allowed no voice in the government; the descendants from 

marriages of Spaniards and Indians were treated little better 

than slaves. When a Spaniard married a white foreigner, their 

descendants were called creoles. The latter were also 

considered inferior and were permitted little influence in the 

government. As a result, a large part of the population grew to 

hate Spanish rule in South America. In reality, only the men 

who had come over from Spain had reason to favor it.  

One of the first acts of Pizarro's government was to 

enslave the Indians, who were compelled to till the soil but 

could sell their products only to the land-owner on whose 

estate they lived. Sometimes they were made to weave and 

spin, but they could buy materials only from the owner. Taxes 

took all their profits, and the land owners kept them always in 

debt. According to the law, no Indian could leave his place of 
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residence so long as he was in debt to his master. Not only 

that, but if he should die the debt descended to his children, 

who were held in bondage until it was paid. This system of 

peonage, as it is called, was a great evil. It kept the Indians 

down.  

Moreover, the colonies were held for the benefit of 

Spanish merchants, who bought from the crown the right to 

trade. Manufactured articles made in Spain and other articles 

of merchandise offered for sale were distributed among the 

natives, who were required to buy whether they needed them 

or not. On one occasion a vessel brought over a large quantity 

of spectacles. Now the Indians had no need of spectacles, but a 

law was passed to the effect that after a certain date the Indians 

in a whole province must wear spectacles while attending 

church. The poor natives had to obey. Silk stockings, fine 

clothing, and other articles of luxury which they did not need, 

were likewise sold to them, and they were required to work 

out the cost. Many Spanish traders who came over poor 

returned home after a few years with considerable wealth.  

Protests made by the natives did not bring relief but, as 

a rule, resulted in punishment. The Indians were required to 

work in the mines, and if they failed to perform their tasks 

they were flogged almost to death. It did no good to appeal to 

the courts, for the judges were Spaniards. The natives' only 

hope lay in revolt, which was frequent, though the armed 

forces of the government were able to keep down rebellion. 

After every rising, the leaders were massacred and slavery was 

more strongly entrenched than ever.  

So grasping and merciless were masters that Indians 

working in the fields in the midst of plenty would beg bread 

from people passing by. "On the plantations," says one writer, 

"in the factories and in the mines, were usually three 

taskmasters who had constant supervision over the works. 

They were the overseer, his assistant, and his foreman. Each 

taskmaster holds his own scourge without letting it fall from 

his hands the whole day long. When one had done any wrong, 

he was stripped and laid on his face and beaten until his body 

was in sores."  

As the local rulers tyrannized over the Indians, so the 

higher rulers tyrannized over the whole body of inhabitants. 

The lot of the Indians was bitterly hard, but the Europeans 

who had made their homes in Peru did not escape. The cruelty 

and inhumanity of the rulers, both civil and religious, were 

destructive of efforts to found a just government. The rulers 

needed money for their extravagant manner of living and they 

shaped the laws so as to make every province contribute its 

share of plunder.  

This was only following the example of the mother 

country, which framed its laws so as to make Peru contribute 

to its wealth. The inhabitants of the colonies were prohibited 

from cultivating the products that Spain wished to export to 

Peru. The result of these repressive laws was that the country 

did not prosper and produce the best type of citizens. Just as 

the government of Peru found many ways to cheat the home 

country, so the provinces found many ways to cheat the 

government of Peru. These acts of injustice produced a people 

either crafty and vicious, or patriotic and rebellious.  

The king of Spain, about the beginning of the 

eighteenth century, went so far as to order all the factories in 

Peru manufacturing cloth or other products of domestic use in 

competition with Spanish manufacturers to be destroyed. 

Notwithstanding such laws, the country was so rich in natural 

resources that it drew large numbers of settlers. On the 

Atlantic coast, near the mouth of the Rio Plata, a thriving town 

was growing. This was called Buenos Aires because of its 

delightful climate. But Buenos Aires, although far nearer 

Spain than Lima, was under the viceroy of Peru and was 

prohibited by law from trading directly with the mother 

country. Throughout the Argentine, many other prosperous 

towns were springing up. Some of these had been founded by 

adventurers from Peru, others by settlers from Buenos Aires. 

Yet the law compelled them to send their products across the 
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mountains to Lima. The alternative was to carry on an illegal 

trade with Brazil or other foreign countries.  

The distance from Buenos Aires to Lima, by the 

overland route, was about 2,800 miles. Yet this route, long as 

it was, by the middle of the eighteenth century had become 

very important. Although there were comparatively few 

settlements along the way, posthouses were kept for the 

convenience of the travelers, where they might obtain food 

and horses to continue their journey.  

 

 
 

LIMA   

If you will take the map, you may trace this long 

overland commercial route from the Atlantic to the Pacific. 

Beginning at Buenos Aires, it led northwest through Cordoba, 

Tucuman and Salta in Argentine; then it continued up the 

mountains into what is now Bolivia, through Potosi and La 

Paz; then over the Andes and through Cuzco, the ancient 

capital of the Incas, and thence to Lima. Nearly a year was 

required to make the round trip of 5,600 miles.  

A glance at the map of South America is sufficient to 

convince any thoughtful student that such a government as that 

at Lima could not forever hold under one authority the people 

of Peru, Bolivia, Chile, Venezuela, Colombia, Argentina, 

Paraguay, and Uruguay. Revolution was inevitable at some 

time or other.  

As in Argentina and Paraguay, little gold was found in 

Chile. This was an agricultural country but the people had to 

sell their products in Peru. The only two provinces that were 

even partly independent of Peru were Venezuela (called the 

Captain-Generalcy of Caracas) and Colombia (called New 

Granada).  

Such was Spanish rule in South America and such was 

the government that emanated from the City of the Kings. No 

wonder that the people rebelled and broke the power of Spain 

in the New World! 
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      CHAPTER VI  

SIR WALTER RALEIGH AND THE DECLINE 

OF SPAIN  

The great empire of Charles V. began to decay at his 

death. In 1581 his son Philip II., who had succeeded to the 

throne of Spain but not the German Empire, lost the 

Netherlands, which began to develop as the Dutch Republic. 

At the. same time England under Queen Elizabeth was making 

progress as a naval and commercial nation. Philip hated 

Elizabeth and made war on England. He equipped a vast fleet, 

in 1588, known as the Spanish Armada, for the purpose of 

invading England and conquering it.  

Sir Francis Drake was one of the daring sea captains of 

England who, with a far inferior squadron, defeated the 

Armada in a great fight in the English Channel. Thus the 

commercial supremacy and naval strength of Spain were 

broken and the ascendency of England as a sea power and 

commercial nation dates from that time. Sir Francis Drake was 

now free to prey on Spanish vessels wherever he might find 

them. He voyaged frequently to the Spanish Main, making rich 

captures and carrying much of the wealth of South America to 

England.  

The time had at last come for England to establish 

colonies in the New World, since her great rival was no longer 

able to oppose her vigorously. Students of United States 

history will remember how Sir Walter Raleigh attempted to 

make settlements in what is now North Carolina. At that time 

England, as well as the other nations of Europe, was not much 

interested in North America, since little gold had been found 

in that continent.  

Sir Walter Raleigh, after his colony failed in North 

America, fell into disgrace at the English court. He was also in 

straits for money. Therefore, he determined to go in search of 

the far-famed city of Manoa, or El Dorado, in the Amazon 

countryðthat fabled city guarded by female warriors, dressed 

in glittering garments of sheets of gold. The entrance to this 

golden land was supposed to be by means of the Orinoco 

River. Columbus had sailed along this coast; Amerigo 

Vespucci had visited it and written about it; Spanish explorers 

had entered the river and brought back some gold, but none 

had found the city which was supposed to be richer than 

Mexico and Cuzco.  

Sir Walter Raleigh determined to make the attempt and 

if possible retrieve his fortunes and restore himself as court 

favorite. Consequently, in 1595, he sailed for South America 

on a voyage of exploration with a view to conquest. He 

reached the mouth of the Orinoco and spent several months in 

exploring the river and the coast of Guiana. He was even less 

successful than the Spaniards in finding gold in this region. 

However, on returning, he followed the example of Amerigo 

Vespucci and published an account of his voyage, The 

Discoverie of Guiana. It was an entertaining narrative, but the 

people of England did not believe his story.  

After the death of Queen Elizabeth in 1603, Raleigh 

was arrested by her successor, James I., for an alleged 

conspiracy against the new king. James was friendly to Spain, 

while Raleigh had always been an enemy of the Spanish. His 

trial in 1603 ended in a verdict of guilty, and he was sentenced 

to death, though the execution was delayed for many years. 

The adventurer still believed the tales of Manoa, the golden 

city somewhere in Guiana, and he promised King James, who 

was in great need of money, that, if restored to freedom, he 

would find it and make the English monarch as rich as the 

king of Spain.  

King James thought enough of the stories circulated in 

Europe to try the venture. He believed it possible for Raleigh 

to succeed. However, the Spanish ambassador in England 

warned James I. that Spain claimed the land Raleigh intended 
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to enter and that an exploring party in the Orinoco region 

would trespass on Spanish possessions.  

James was in want of money, but he had no desire to 

become involved in difficulties with the king of Spain, who 

was still a very powerful monarch. He, therefore, assured the 

Spanish ambassador that if Raleigh should be guilty of piracy 

or of any hostile acts against Spanish authority Sir Walter 

would be executed on his return. Raleigh promised King 

James not to attack Spanish vessels or seize Spanish territory. 

On March 17, 1617, he set sail a second time for South 

America, taking his son with him.  

It was generally believed that a descendant of the Inca 

lived in the interior of Guiana near a lake where immense 

quantities of gold were to be found. On the banks of this lake 

there was rumored to stand a city whose houses were covered 

with sheets of gold, while in the royal palace the king and 

queen had gold dust sprinkled on their bodies, so that they 

were actually clothed with it. But Raleigh never found Manoa. 

The ill-fated expedition reached the mouth of the Orinoco 

River on the last day of 1617. Raleigh had been stricken with 

fever on the voyage. As he was too ill to proceed, he remained 

at Trinidad, but sent five small vessels up the Orinoco. His son 

accompanied the expedition. As they sailed up the river, 

seeking information from the natives, they found a small 

Spanish settlement. Now, wherever Spaniards and Englishmen 

met in the New World a fight was inevitable. When the 

English expedition came in sight of the Spanish colony, the 

Spaniards opened fire. The result was that, notwithstanding 

Raleigh's warning to the party to turn back from Spanish 

settlements, a fierce fight ensued. The Spaniards were 

defeated, but Raleigh's son was killed.  

Meeting no further resistance, the expedition 

continued. The natives, who always fed the imagination of 

explorers, whether in North America or South America, with 

what explorers liked to hear, told them that a race of people 

higher up the river had an abundance of gold. The 

Englishmen, therefore, continued upstream for some distance 

farther.  

All at once they beheld what seemed to be the golden 

tribe they sought. They saw the natives moving about through 

the forests, dressed in shining garments apparently of gold or 

silver, they could not tell which. The English were carried 

away with joy, for they had at last found the object of their 

desire. Imagine their disappointment when they learned what 

the natives really wore!  

 

 
 

A STREET IN CARACAS  

Investigation showed that the Indians covered their 

bodies with turtle fat and then stuck thin sheets of mica over 

them, thus presenting a truly dazzling appearance. This was 

probably done to protect them from mosquitoes, which were 

terribly annoying in that region. The insects were so harmful 

that even the Indians, tough as their hides were, had to devise 

some means to defend themselves. They hit upon mica.  

The expedition met with nothing but failure. No gold 

was discovered; provisions were running low, and it became 

necessary to return. When the party reached Trinidad, they 
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found Sir Walter Raleigh still sick and weak. They told him of 

their fight with the Spaniards and the death of his son. Raleigh 

reproached them for disobeying orders, realizing that their act 

had sealed his own doom and possibly that of the entire 

expedition.  

The leader of the expedition up the Orinoco, not caring 

to return to England, at once committed suicide, and for days it 

seemed as if there would be a mutiny among the men. Many 

did not desire to go back to England, fearing what their fate 

would be. But after much confusion and delay, the English 

went home.  

King James was disappointed because Sir Walter 

Raleigh had failed to find gold. Moreover, he was infuriated 

because the expedition had attacked a Spanish colony. As the 

king was under the influence of the Spanish ambassador, he 

assured the latter that Raleigh should pay the penalty for his 

disobedience; shortly after he ordered the execution of the 

famous explorer. On October 29, 1618, Sir Walter Raleigh 

was beheaded. It still appeared that Spain had the power to 

check the colonial growth of England.  

Thus ended the career of the man who first sought to 

erect England's dominion in the New World. Largely as a 

result of his ventures, a permanent English colony had been 

planted on American soil. This was at Jamestown in 1607. 

Later, the Dutch secured a foothold in South America near the 

mouth of the Orinoco River. In the same section of the 

continent, the French and English also occupied land, and 

English, Dutch, and French Guiana remain as the result of 

these seizures.  

The appearance of the English, French, and Dutch in 

the New World at the beginning of the seventeenth century 

marks the decline of the maritime supremacy of Spain and 

Portugal; the center of interest gradually shifted from South 

America to North America. What was the purpose of these 

nations in establishing colonies? It was either to secure gold 

and other metals, or to set up centers of trade and commerce 

for the benefit of the mother country. It became the policy of 

the English to establish trade centers and agricultural 

settlements rather than to hunt gold.  

England, France, and the Dutch Republic all made 

settlements in America and in India in the seventeenth century. 

They engaged in the slave trade, just as Spain and Portugal 

had done in the sixteenth century, in order to secure laborers to 

cultivate the land. Great commercial companies developed; 

each nation was ambitious to conquer as much of the world as 

possible and build up an empire that would increase the wealth 

of the mother country. Such were the motives that prompted 

them to found settlements in America, India, Africa, and 

elsewhere.  

This rivalry for commercial supremacy continued 

throughout the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. At length 

in 1763, England definitely triumphed over France and took 

nearly all of the French possessions in North America and 

India. This struggle was known in Europe as the Seven Years' 

War and in America as the French and Indian War. England 

emerged as the greatest naval and commercial nation in the 

world.  

But no European nation had yet learned how to govern 

its colonies. Spain had failed ingloriously. England also failed, 

as the people of the United States well know, because the 

thirteen English colonies revolted in 1776 and secured their 

independence, creating the first independent nation in the New 

World.  

The English colonists in North America did not 

intermarry with the Indians and negroes as the Spanish 

colonists had done. Being mainly of one race, they were able 

to cooperate in a supreme effort to free themselves from the 

tyranny of English rule, and, after independence had been 

won, to unite and form a representative government that was 

successful from the start. The Spanish colonists were 

composed of a mixture of races, one class hating another class 

as much as the government itself. Thus, the different groups of 
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colonists of that continent could not unite as readily as the 

English colonists had done.  

Yet a number of South Americans looked with great 

admiration upon the leaders of the thirteen English colonies. 

Some of them volunteered their services and fought under 

George Washington, who became their ideal patriot and 

military leader. After independence was won, these South 

Americans began to dream of independence for their own 

continent and they never ceased to work until their dreams 

came true.  

The revolution begun in North America did not end 

there. Oppressed peoples in Europe sought to break the 

tyranny of their rulers, and France became the center of a still 

fiercer revolution. The king of France was beheaded. Then 

arose the greatest military leader, perhaps, the world has ever 

seen, Napoleon Bonaparte. He organized the French armies, 

took possession of the government, and soon brought Spain, 

Portugal, Italy, Austria, and Prussia under his power. Finally, 

all these nations combined against him, because his 

tremendous power had disturbed the equilibrium of the world; 

England, being the strongest of the nations in the alliance 

against Napoleon, took the lead. Yet for a time it seemed as if 

no power on earth could overthrow him.  

In 1808 he completely humbled Spain, and its king was 

compelled to abdicate. It was at that moment that the Spanish 

colonies in South America struck for freedom, when Spain 

was powerless to check them. The regent of Portugal fled 

before the armies of Napoleon and established his throne at 

Rio de Janeiro. This kept Brazil from revolting, because the 

Brazilians, for the most part, were glad to have their ruler live 

with them. The combined forces of Napoleon's enemies were 

able finally to defeat him at Waterloo in 1815, and each nation 

conquered by him regained its former independence. Great 

Britain was mistress of the seas and possessed more colonies 

in North America, Africa, and India than all other nations 

combined. The Spanish colonies in South America, however, 

by this time had made so much progress toward freedom that 

Spain was unable to regain them. This was the final blow that 

left Spain one of the weaker nations of Europe.  

What was the organization of the Spanish colonies 

when they struck for freedom? The continent of South 

America, outside of Brazil and Guiana in the northeastern 

corner of the continent, belonged to Spain and was divided 

into three vice-royalties. The oldest was the viceroyalty of 

Peru, which until 1718 embraced all the territory on the 

continent belonging to Spain. In that year the viceroyalty of 

New Granada was created. This included what are now 

Venezuela, Ecuador, and Colombia. In 1776, the viceroyalty 

of the de la Plata River was created, embracing all of South 

America south of Brazil and east of the Andes mountains.  

At the beginning of the revolt of the Spanish colonies, 

therefore, there were three viceroyalties, all independent of 

each other but subject to the king of Spain. The ruler of each 

was a viceroy, and the territory under him was divided into 

provinces or captain-generalships, under captain-generals.  

It is interesting to note that the revolt began in each 

viceroyalty in the same year, 1810, and almost at the same 

time. The first outbreak was in Venezuela, in the viceroyalty 

of New Granada; the second in Argentine, in the viceroyalty of 

the de la Plata River; and the third in Chile, in the vice-royalty 

of Peru.  

The chief leader of the revolt was Francisco Miranda, a 

native of Caracas, in Venezuela. His teachings stirred the 

young men of South America. Simon Bolivar, the leader of 

New Granada, Jose San Martin, the leader of Argentina, and 

Bernardo O'Higgins, the leader of Chile, were students and 

disciples of Miranda, and the story of the revolution may be 

told in the life histories of these four patriots. Few men have 

displayed more heroism and exhibited a finer patriotism than 

these leaders, all of whom, with the exception of Miranda, 

lived to see the independence of their countries secured and 

yet died in exile.  
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CHAPTER VII  

HOW AN EARTHQUAKE STOPPED 

M IRANDA 'S REVOLUTION  

The Spanish colonists had great cause for hating the 

mother country. However, Spanish soldiers were always able 

to crush revolts until the mother country fell under the power 

of Napoleon Bonaparte. Patriotic leaders in South America 

who had aided the English colonies in North America to 

secure their independence waited for the proper moment to 

strike for freedom. As was mentioned before, the first province 

in South America to act was Venezuela. It was favorably 

situated, occupying the northernmost part of the continent and 

lying on the great highways of the New World. Being near the 

United States, it was most affected by the War for 

Independence and by the great arguments for human freedom 

that were influencing all the nations of the civilized world. The 

name Venezuela, meaning little Venice, was given to the 

province because the Spaniards saw in the country along the 

coast a likeness to beautiful Venice in Italy. Its capital, 

Caracas, situated in the mountains, is today one of the most 

picturesque and naturally beautiful cities of the entire world. 

Venezuela was considered by Spain as her most valuable 

province next to Peru.  

One of the foremost patriots of South America was 

Francisco Miranda, who was born in Caracas in 1754. He had 

watched the early struggles of the thirteen English colonies 

and was electrified by their action in 1776, when they declared 

themselves independent. He looked upon the Declaration of 

Independence as the greatest liberty document ever written. He 

was a student of the political literature of North America and 

Europe, and he, too, became convinced that all men are 

created free and equal and that it is their right and duty to fight 

for freedom whenever it is denied them. Stirred by the heroism 

of George Washington and the other American patriots, he 

determined to lend his assistance to the Venezuelan rebels in 

their fight for freedom.  

Miranda was in Paris when Benjamin Franklin 

persuaded the French to aid the North American colonists. He 

secured permission to go with the French army to America, 

and he entered at once on the service, fighting against the 

English until the independence of the thirteen colonies was 

won.  

The success of the revolution in North America 

inspired Miranda with a belief that the colonies of South 

America might likewise win their independence. He remained 

in the United States in order to plan a great revolution on the 

southern continent. Spain had aided the English colonies in 

securing their independence, not because she loved them but 

because she hated England. In this respect Spain and the 

colonies of North America were a unit. As a consequence, 

when Francisco Miranda sought aid in the United States 

against Spain, the new government would not give him 

assistance because it might break the recent friendship. 

Moreover, Spain still held Florida, and any hostile action on 

the part of the United States against that power would involve 

the republic in a dangerous war. Miranda became so active 

that the Spanish government took notice of it, and the United 

States had to request him to leave the country for fear that he 

would bring it into serious difficulties with Spain.  

From America, Miranda went to France and joined the 

revolutionists of that country. He was given the command of a 

brigade and so distinguished himself that he was promoted for 

bravery. However, in France the revolutionists had not then 

found a great leader. One party after another rose to power, 

and Miranda was arrested and tried for treason but acquitted. 

He finally fled from France to England, where he sought to 

interest the government in the liberation of Venezuela from the 

Spanish yoke.  
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While in London, he gathered around him a group of 

patriotic young South Americans who had gone to Europe to 

complete their education. These students read his pamphlets, 

visited him in England, and became members of his secret 

organization, the chief purpose of which was to break the 

power of Spain in the New World.  

It was customary for wealthy Spaniards in South 

America to send their sons to Spain to be educated. `Thither 

came Simon Bolivar from Caracas, San Martin from the Plata 

country, and O'Higgins from Chile. These and many other 

South Americans were attracted to Miranda in England; they 

visited him and became so fired by him that they never forgot 

his teachings.  

Miranda, however, soon became an unwelcome guest 

in England, because England needed Spain's assistance in 

overthrowing Napoleon. He did not dare, of course, to go to 

Spain; but he visited Austria and Prussia, where his doctrines 

of liberty were not well received. Finally, he decided to return 

to Venezuela and make an attempt at insurrection on his own 

account. In 1805, by the aid of some citizens of the United 

States who appreciated his Revolutionary War services, he 

equipped a vessel. With the help of some sailors loaned by an 

English admiral, Sir A. Cochrane, who was later to play an 

important part in the South American war for independence, 

Miranda began his rebellion at Caracas. There he proclaimed a 

new republic, calling it Colombia in honor of the great 

discoverer. His opening efforts were crowned with some 

success; but the English withdrew their men, who returned to 

fight Napoleon, and Miranda's first attempt failed.  

The condition of the Spanish colonies at that time was 

deplorable. Spain was sinking to ruin but still grasping at her 

possessions. The viceroys were determined to crush the revolt 

at any cost. It meant death to a creole to protest in any way 

against injustice and oppression. The people everywhere were 

ready to rise against the cruelty of the viceroys, who were 

seeking to hold the colonies together until Spain could recover 

from the European wars and reassert her power. Only a spark 

was needed to fire the powder.  

 

 
 

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF VENEZUELA  

In 1810, when Napoleon's army had about conquered 

Spain, Miranda again landed in South America and secured a 

large following. He proclaimed a republic in Venezuela and 

one also in New Granada or Colombia. It was Miranda's idea 

for all the South American colonies to form a federal republic 

in the same manner as the English colonies in North America 

composed the United States.  

This plan was hateful to many who did not wish to 

unite under one government. It awoke the selfishness of the 

leaders of the several provinces in the north. They were unable 

to unite in a common interest as the thirteen English colonies 

had done, for the leaders in the different colonies were jealous 

of the power that the head of such a confederacy might secure. 

Thus South American patriotism was local and narrow.  

However, Venezuela received Miranda with 

enthusiasm and, on July 5, 1811, it declared itself free and 

independent of Spain. An attempt had been made to reach this 



Original Copyright 1922 by E.C. Brooks.    Distributed by Heritage History 2010 36 

decision on July 4, the anniversary of the independence of the 

United States, but there was a delay of a day.  

Miranda was given an ovation by the new government, 

which appointed him lieutenant-general of the army. He was 

looked upon as the man of the hour. Appointed with others to 

draw up a constitution, he took as a basis the Constitution of 

the United States and devised a plan for the federation of all 

the colonies of South America in one nation.  

As a result of this plan, not only did Spanish 

sympathizers everywhere rise in opposition but patriotic 

leaders who were jealous of Miranda's position opposed his 

plans. Affairs became so critical that he was appointed dictator 

of the new government. The boldness of his scheme, however, 

had struck terror to all faithful servants of Spain. That anyone 

could raise his hand against the Lord's anointed, as the king of 

Spain was called, shook the superstitious minds of the people; 

many priests who remained loyal to the king declared that 

independence was contrary to the will of heaven. However, a 

number of high officials of the church were true patriots and 

did not seek to excuse the tyranny of the king or the cruelty of 

the viceroys.  

The cause of the revolutionists prospered for some 

time. The first year of independence was about to close with 

good prospects of ultimate success. Then an unexpected 

calamity upset all the plans of the patriots. The spring of 1812 

had opened and the Easter festival was at hand. Men, women, 

and children were rejoicing in the streets of Caracas in the new 

age that seemed about to dawn. March 26 was Holy Thursday, 

and extensive preparations were made for the celebration of 

the next day, Good Friday, a day that would usher in a happy 

future for South America.  

The churches were thronged with worshipers. In the 

middle of the afternoon, which was excessively hot, drops of 

rain began to fall. The atmosphere became oppressive. In the 

great cathedral, the people, in holiday dress and filled with 

religious enthusiasm, were assembled. A little before four 

o'clock, the vesper hour, when the service was to begin, the 

world suddenly seemed to come to an end. One writer, 

describing this awful scene, says:  

"At seven minutes past four, when the solemn services 

in the churches were beginning, the earth seemed to reel. 

There was a fearful crash, followed by a deep sound as of 

thunder. It came not from the sky, but from the caverns below. 

The people started up. What was happening? Where? They felt 

their feet unsteady, and in the tremor buildings were 

crumbling, melting away as it were. People ran hither and 

thither calling on Heaven for mercy. The beasts sought the 

caves. Birds screamed of fright in the air."  

Buildings, great pillars, and heavy walls quickly 

crumbled away; 30,000 people perished. Caracas was not the 

only sufferer: town after town was destroyed. Some 

disappeared; the town of San Felipe was totally swallowed up. 

Its houses, public buildings, and inhabitants were never seen 

again. The survivors fled to the fields and wandered about, 

lamenting and praying. No one knew what members of his 

family or friends were saved. Many families were parted. 

Husbands never saw wives again; little children, their parents; 

men and women were swallowed up alive in awful caverns in 

the earth.  

In the church of San Jacinto, the groans of the dying 

arose on every hand. The priests, in great alarm, told the 

people that it was the curse of God visited upon them for their 

sin in revolting against the king. Amidst the ruins of the once 

magnificent cathedral of Caracas, the people rended the 

heavens with their lamentations and cries for mercy. 

Frightened priests called all to repentance for their sin of 

rebellion, the consequences of which might be visited upon 

their children and their children's children. On all sides the 

people hearkened to the invitation of the priests and poured 

out their curses on the patriot leaders who had led them to this 

calamity.  
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Suddenly a young officer rose above the stricken 

multitude and, standing on a broken pillar, raised his voice 

loud enough for all to hear. "It is not the wrath of God, but an 

earthquake!" he shouted. The people gazed at him in 

astonishment. "This is merely an act of nature," the young 

officer continued. "The cause of the patriots is just, and if 

nature opposes herself we will wrestle with her and compel 

her to obey."  

 

 
 

MIRANDA  IN PRISON  

The priests exclaimed that this was sacrilege, and the 

people applauded the priests. The young officer was Simon 

Bolivar, who had been serving under Miranda. Finding 

himself unable to check the influence of the hostile priests, he 

directed his efforts to relieving the distressed.  

Out in the streets whole regiments of Miranda's army 

had been swallowed up. The patriots were thrown into the 

wildest confusion. The terrified people, ignorant and 

superstitious, believed the words of the priests and turned 

against the leaders of the patriotic army. The royalists took 

courage at once and made capital of the mob's superstitious 

fears. The morale of the patriots was completely broken. In 

battle after battle they were defeated, and four months later 

Miranda himself was captured. The officials sent him to Spain 

to be tried for treason. There he was confined in a loathsome 

dungeon, where he died on July 14, 1816.  

The seeds of revolution, however, had been too deeply 

planted to be destroyed. They were destined later to spring up 

in new life and break forever the Spanish rule in South 

America.  

The teachings of Francisco Miranda, as was said 

before, converted three young South Americans who were to 

lead the continent to freedom by breaking the power of Spain. 

One was Simon Bolivar of Caracas, destined to carry on in 

Venezuela the work begun by Miranda. Another was Jose San 

Martin, a creole of Argentina, who was to become the liberator 

of the southern provinces; and the third was Bernardo 

O'Higgins, "The Father of Chile." The first two were to meet 

on the shores of the Gulf of Guayaquil, where Pizarro landed 

and planted the Spanish flag. There they were to unite their 

forces and banish that flag as an emblem of authority on the 

southern continent.  
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CHAPTER VIII  

SAN MARTIN  

It has already been stated that all of South America 

except Brazil was under the rule of the viceroy of Peru until 

the eighteenth century. Everything possible was done to make 

the different Spanish provinces contribute to the prosperity of 

Peru and the court at Lima. However, several towns of 

importance were springing up in the Plata country which 

looked more and more to trade on the Atlantic, not the Pacific, 

for their prosperity. The principal one was Buenos Aires, 

destined to be the greatest city of the continent.  

So important was this Plata country becoming that, in 

1776, the king of Spain, separating what are now Bolivia, 

Paraguay, Uruguay, and Argentina from Peru, created the 

viceroyalty of Rio de la Plata. This was done chiefly for the 

purpose of forming a government on the Atlantic to check the 

growth of the Portuguese in Brazil, which province embraced 

about half of the continent and was threatening to push 

southward across the Plata. When the war for independence 

began, this territory was known as the United Provinces of Rio 

de la Plata. It was not until 1860 that the young nation adopted 

the name of the "Argentine Republic."  

The government of Spain had waited too long to give 

needed relief to this part of the continent. Misrule had 

destroyed the affection of the people for the mother country. 

Therefore, when the fires of revolution were kindled and the 

hope of independence stirred in the hearts of the people, 

Argentina was the second province to revolt from the 'mother' 

country. This section of South America, like Venezuela, had 

been greatly stirred by the success of the United States. 

Moreover, the teachings of General Miranda had strengthened 

the determination of the people to throw off the Spanish yoke. 

They saw their opportunity when Napoleon Bonaparte was at 

war with Europe and held Spain in his power. After Venezuela 

led the way, Buenos Aires and the Plata country followed 

within a few weeks. The North and the South moved almost at 

the same time for independence. Would the patriots of the two 

sections of the continent unite their forces and break the hated 

rule of Spain in South America or would they keep apart and 

fail?  

Argentina was without an army. A group of leaders 

had organized bands of citizens into fighting forces, but there 

was little unity of purpose. The soldiers were undisciplined 

and without a recognized leader. This was the state of affairs 

on March 9, 1812, when Jose de San Martin, a veteran of the 

European wars, landed at Buenos Aires.  

San Martin was born in the upper part of the Rio de la 

Plata valley, in what is now Paraguay, on February 25, 1778. 

His father was Captain Juan de San Martin, a Spaniard of rank. 

His mother, however, was a creole, and the son, not being 

wholly of Spanish blood, was classed as a creole. It has been 

stated before that a creole was a descendant of Spanish and 

foreign parents for instance, the son of a Spanish father and of 

an English, French, German, or Italian mother would be a 

creole. The children of such parents did not rank socially with 

full -blooded Spaniards.  

When San Martin was eight years old, he was carried 

to Spain to be educated, and the lad received the best military 

training that the country afforded. At an early age he entered 

the service of Spain and fought in its defense. While serving as 

an officer in the Spanish army, he learned of the teachings of 

General Miranda and was converted to his philosophy. He, 

therefore, joined one of the secret societies pledged to work 

for the independence of South America.  

The young patriot was just thirty-four years old when 

he arrived in Buenos Aires. When he landed, few people 

noticed the thin, serious-looking stranger. His appearance dark 

complexion, with long, dark lashes and heavy eyebrows, large 

black eyes, small mouth, and long nose was not unlike that of 
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the creoles to whom he was related. His heavy chin and jaw 

were noticeable; and his rough voice, quick and commanding, 

always attracted attention. This quiet, modest, sad-faced 

newcomer was to exert more influence in South America than 

any man since Pizarro, though in a very different way.  

On his return from Spain, in 1812, he was practically 

unknown in Argentina. But as soon as possible he made the 

acquaintance of the patriot leaders, who recognized at once 

that he was bringing a military skill and an experience to the 

country sorely needed in organizing the revolution and giving 

it direction. San Martin was not only educated in the best 

military schools of Europe, but he had seen the strategy of the 

greatest generals of the world and had a practical training in 

war such as no other officer in Argentina, or, for that matter, in 

all South America, had received. The leaders of the revolution 

knew that he had served at one time under Wellington against 

Napoleon. Consequently, he was made lieutenant-colonel and 

was entrusted with the formation of a squadron of cavalry. His 

first important work was to establish a school to train officers.  

"Until now," he declared, "the United Provinces have 

fought for no one knows what, without a flag, and without any 

avowed principles to explain the origin and tendency of the 

insurrection. We must declare ourselves independent if we 

wish to be known and respected."  

Buenos Aires had declared her independence on May 

25, 1810. But the entire province did not take the final step 

until July 9, 1816, which may be given as the date of 

independence.  

The royalist army in Argentina had been temporarily 

driven back to Tucuman to await reinforcements from Peru. It 

was there that a council of the patriot chiefs was held. What 

impressed the leaders most was San Martin's unselfishness. He 

seemed to have no secret ambition for himself, to be wholly 

disinterested. One writer says of him, "He worked in silence, 

showing neither weakness, pride, nor bitterness at seeing his 

work triumphant and his part in it forgotten."  

The story is told of King Arthur, the legendary ruler of 

England, that when he came into the presence of the Knights 

of the Round Table and looked them full in the eye, so 

righteous were his aims and purposes that his likeness shone in 

the countenances of the knights and they shared his desire to 

think pure thoughts and do noble deeds. San Martin had a 

somewhat similar effect on the soldiers and officers who came 

under the spell of his personality.  

The government, recognizing his ability, placed him in 

command of the Army of the North. So tactfully did he 

conduct himself that General Belgrano, who had been in 

command, was not envious of him but swore eternal friendship 

and even went to school to him to learn military science.  

It was very evident to San Martin that the power of 

Peru must be broken, that the City of the Kings must be 

captured, if the Argentine country was ever to be free. At the 

same time he saw that the road to Peru was not the ancient 

highway that traders had traveled for centuries, but by way of 

Chile, which must be freed first. Therefore, he asked to be 

relieved of the command of the Army of the North and to be 

placed over the obscure province of Mendoza, which bordered 

on Chile. Everyone wondered at this act, but San Martin kept 

silent as to his plans.  

Mendoza, a prosperous town at the foot of the 

mountains, was on the highway between Chile and Argentine, 

and southern Chile was already striving for independence. 

Here where San Martin met Chileans coming east and 

Argentinians going west, he set up his headquarters and was 

able to build a fire under the Spanish leaders that ultimately 

destroyed their power.  

Again the first thing necessary was to train officers. 

San Martin established another military school at Mendoza. 

Rigid discipline was enforced, and the people marveled at his 

control over his men. Besides, his unselfishness and his sense 

of justice made him so popular in Mendoza that the people 

elected him governor of the province. It is said, "They saw in 
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San Martin a father whom they loved and a ruler whom they 

respected."  

It was at Mendoza that he organized the Army of the 

Andes, one of the most efficient forces in history. The 

government of Argentina in 1815 appointed him general-of-

brigade, which position he accepted with the understanding 

that he would resign as soon as the country was freed from 

Spain. During this period of training he was joined by refugees 

from Chile. One of these was Bernardo O'Higgins, a noble 

patriot and skillful officer, who studied under San Martin and 

entered the Army of the Andes when it was ready to begin its 

expedition across the mountains. O'Higgins was San Martin's 

most valuable subordinate.  

At the beginning of 1817, San Martin was ready to 

launch his expedition into Chile. On January 17, the ladies of 

Mendoza, who had already given their jewels to be used in 

buying supplies, presented him with a silken flag decorated 

with precious stones. A special holiday had been declared, and 

the streets were crowded with people to see the troops depart. 

As San Martin accepted the flag, he waved it over his head, 

exclaiming in a voice that could be heard by the great 

multitude:  

"Soldiers! This is the first independent flag which has 

been blessed in South America."  

A great shout arose from the people, "Viva la Patria!"  

"Soldiers! Swear to sustain it and to die in defense of 

it, as I swear!" San Martin went on.  

"We swear!" came the answer from four thousand 

throats.  

The greatest difficulty ahead of San Martin was to 

carry his army safely over the Andes Mountains. It must scale 

the snow-capped barrier and descend into the plains below, a 

very hazardous undertaking. But with the aid of O'Higgins he 

conducted the expedition so skillfully that he kept the enemy 

on the other side of the mountains guessing as to what route he 

would take, carrying safely across four thousand troops and all 

their equipment without the loss of a man.  

It is said that the passage of the Andes by San Martin is 

one of the most remarkable feats in military history. It 

probably required greater strategical skill to cross these lofty 

mountains under the circumstances than to cross the Alps 

under the conditions confronting Hannibal or Napoleon. 

Several passes were used; San Martin himself crossed by Patos 

Pass.  

San Martin's troops poured down the mountain side 

into Chile before the enemy realized that he had achieved what 

was thought to be impossible. Meeting the Spaniards at 

Chacabuco, San Martin administered a decisive defeat. The 

assembly of Chile was so delighted that it elected him 

governor with supreme power. He declined the office and, 

summoning another assembly, advised it to elect his 

lieutenant, General O'Higgins. The advice was accepted, and 

Chile had for a number of years one of the ablest rulers on the 

continent.  

When Buenos Aires heard of San Martin's victory, the 

people shouted for joy. The streets were crowded with an 

applauding multitude; cannon roared at the fort; medals were 

given the soldiers, and San Martin's daughter was voted a life 

pension which was devoted to her education. The government 

then elected San Martin to the highest military grade in the 

service. But he likewise declined this honor, asking instead 

that the government send him more men and supplies. Chile 

showed her gratitude by voting him 10,000 ounces of gold, 

which he refused for himself but used to build a public-library.  

The royalists in Chile were not yet completely 

overcome. At times it seemed that the fruits of San Martin's 

victory might be lost. However, on April 5, 1818, another 

great battle was fought at Maipo. This engagement destroyed 

the Spanish army and secured the independence of Chile, 

which had been declared on January 20 of the same year.  
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After this battle San Martin went to Buenos Aires to 

consult with the government about the expedition to Peru. This 

was his final objective, for no province was safe so long as 

Peru remained under Spanish rule. It seemed to others, 

however, that the power of Spain was really broken; and the 

government of Buenos Aires asked San Martin not to request 

further funds. Immediately he sent in his resignation. It 

produced so much consternation that the patriot leaders told 

him to take any amount of money he needed.  

 

 
 

SAN MARTIN  

San Martin was at length ready to proceed against 

Peru. The most natural route was by sea. But he lacked war 

vessels as well as transports for his soldiers. In order to secure 

ships it was necessary to resort to strategy. After the battle of 

Chacabuco, San Martin kept the Spanish flag flying over 

Valparaiso, the chief seaport, in order to deceive Spanish 

vessels that might stop there on their way from Spain to Peru.  

The strategy succeeded; several Spanish vessels 

dropped anchor in the harbor of Valparaiso, only to be called 

on to surrender by the patriots. In addition to these captured 

vessels, one ship was bought in America and another in 

England. San Martin then sought the best commander possible 

for the expedition. The man selected was a nephew, Admiral 

Cochrane, who had given aid to General Miranda in his first 

expedition against the Spanish government in Venezuela. San 

Martin next issued a proclamation to the patriots of Peru 

announcing his purpose to lead an expedition against the 

Spanish government in that province in order to free an 

oppressed people and give them an opportunity to form a 

government of their own.  

The fleet under Admiral Cochrane, consisting of five 

vessels, was sent out ahead in January, 1819. It reached 

Callao, the seaport of Lima, early in February, and there 

defeated the Spaniards.  

Just at this point San Martin was given a great surprise. 

Spain, at last free from European war, was equipping a large 

fleet to regain her lost possessions. Buenos Aires was in a 

panic at the news and sent a hurried call to San Martin to 

return with his troops to protect the city. But he refused. The 

order was repeated, and this time San Martin sent in his 

resignation rather than depart from his plans.  

The government, however, refused a second time to 

accept his resignation. San Martin, therefore, decided to go to 

Buenos Aires and consult with the government. While he was 

away, Admiral Cochrane won a great victory over the Spanish 

fleet. The Englishman thereupon aspired to supreme 

command. But the Chileans could not forget the services of 

San Martin, whom they made generalissimo of their forces.  

San Martin, who had worked hard for years, was now 

broken in health. But seeing the condition of his army and 

realizing that traitors in the pay of the Spanish government 

were undermining his plans, he started back to join his men. 

He was so feeble that he was carried on a litter much of the 

way across the mountains. He felt that no time could be lost, 

that the Spanish power in Peru must be broken without delay. 

On July 22, 1820, he was ready to start out. On the eve of his 
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departure from Valparaiso by sea he addressed a proclamation 

to the people of Chile, concluding in these words:  

"Whatever may be my lot in the campaign against 

Peru, I shall prove that ever since I re-turned to my native land 

her independence has occupied my every thought, and that I 

have never had other ambition than to merit the hatred of the 

ungrateful and the esteem of the virtuous."  

At the same time he wrote the government at Buenos 

Aires that he would turn over the command of the army to the 

central authority just as soon as his purpose was accomplished. 

He took every opportunity possible to assure the people that he 

was seeking no power or position for himself, that his only 

desire was to break the tyranny of Spain.  

On August 20, the expedition sailed from Valparaiso, 

Admiral Cochrane leading the way. The army landed about 

one hundred and fifty miles south of Lima, and immediately 

San Martin issued a proclamation to the people, in which he 

declared:  

"The last viceroy of Peru endeavors to maintain his 

decrepit authority. I come to put an end to this epoch of sorrow 

and humiliation."  

Lord Cochrane continued along the coast and, sailing 

into the bay of Callao, completely destroyed the Spanish fleet. 

The army then marched northward. Everywhere the oppressed 

people flocked to San Martin's standard and hailed him as their 

savior.  

General San Martin's forces crushed the opposing 

Spanish army, and on July 6, 1821, entered Lima. San Martin 

was now at the height of his power. Writing to Governor 

O'Higgins of Chile, he said:  

"Peru is free. I now see before me the end of my public 

life and watch how I can leave this heavy charge in safe hands, 

so that I may return into some quiet corner and live as a man 

should live."  

On July 28, 1821, the independence of Peru was 

solemnly proclaimed with inspiring ceremonies in the great 

square of Lima. San Martin displayed the flag of Peru as the 

procession marched by, and the liberated inhabitants showered 

flowers on him in expression of their gratitude. Then the 

people urged him to become their ruler; on August 3, 1821, he 

accepted the offer and was styled "The Protector, of Peru."  

Just as the Spanish conquest of South America began 

in Peru and extended southward through Chile and eastward 

across Argentina, the van of revolution started on the Atlantic 

coast and rolled westward into Chile and then northward into 

Peru. It came like retribution, retracing the path of blood that 

the conquerors had drawn across the continent and along 

which their heartless tyranny had left its toll of death and ruin.  

The government of Peru gave San Martin $500,000, 

derived from the sale of Spanish property, but he divided the 

sum among his twenty generals, keeping none for himself.  

The great leader, the Protector of Peru, was now weak 

and almost exhausted. His body was attacked by a slow 

disease and he desired to return to private life. He saw that his 

generals were jealous of his great popularity, even Admiral 

Cochrane being ambitious to succeed him. Cochrane, 

however, disappointed in his hopes, resigned and returned to 

England.  

San Martin, although at the head of the Peruvian 

government, found himself in a precarious position. The 

royalists in Peru were still strong and only awaited an 

opportunity to rise against the patriots. The people had 

welcomed San Martin, but nobody knew better than himself 

the fickleness of popular favor. The patriot cause in Peru 

needed strengthening, and there was only one man who could 

strengthen it. That was Simon Bolivar, the Liberator of the 

North, who was on the borders of Peru with a large army. San 

Martin determined to call on him for aid.  
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CHAPTER IX  

BOLIVAR  

The first war for independence, begun in Venezuela 

under the leadership of Francisco Miranda, was suddenly 

brought to an end upon the downfall of that patriot. Even his 

young lieutenant, Simon Bolivar, who had tried to calm the 

crowd during the confusion caused by the earthquake, made 

peace with the government and sought refuge in the island of 

Curacao for fear that Spain might reconsider and punish him 

for his part in the rebellion.  

Simon Bolivar was an extraordinary man. He was born 

in the city of Caracas, Venezuela, on July 24, 1783ðabout 

five years after the birth of San Martin. He was the son of a 

noble family. His father and mother were Spanish people of 

great prominence. He was left an orphan at an early age, his 

father dying when he was only three years of age and his 

mother three years later. He was heir to a vast estate with 

hundreds of slaves. At the age of fourteen he was sent to Spain 

to be educated, as was the custom of wealthy Spaniards in 

South America. After finishing his education, he married at the 

age of nineteen the daughter of a Venezuela nobleman and 

returned to Caracas. His bride was just sixteen years old. 

Three years later she died, leaving no heir. Thus bereaved, 

Bolivar was living a retired life on his plantation when the 

insurrection in Venezuela broke out.  

He took no part in the movement at first, but finally 

accepted a commission to London in behalf of the new 

government. While in London he became acquainted with 

General Miranda and joined a secret society, the purpose of 

which was to work for the liberation of Spanish America. 

Soon afterward he returned with Miranda to Venezuela. He 

then entered with much enthusiasm into the war for 

independence, serving under Miranda until the latter was 

captured and sent a prisoner to Spain.  

On the island of Curacao, Bolivar laid his plans to lead 

an expedition against the royalists of his native country. The 

other provinces of northern South America had followed the 

lead of Venezuela and Argentina and were attempting to 

overthrow Spanish rule. Thus, it was not difficult to secure 

adherents to his standard. The people of Venezuela were 

cowed by the sufferings resulting from their political 

calamities. A reign of terror had broken out; many persons fled 

to the mountains, and even the unexplored parts of the 

country, where misery caused them to cry aloud for 

vengeance.  

Bolivar quietly slipped back into Venezuela and, 

organizing these fugitives, began a descent upon Caracas. His 

march through the country was a triumph. Everywhere the 

people flocked to him. Victory after victory crushed the 

royalist forces, and, on August 4, 1813, Bolivar entered 

Caracas in state. When he reached the outskirts of the city, he 

was placed in a triumphal car drawn by twelve young ladies 

dressed in white and ribboned with the national colorsðall of 

them selected from the first families of Caracas. He was hailed 

by the people as "The Liberator," the title he ever afterward 

preferred to wear.  

The patriot government was so grateful to him for his 

brilliant victories that it proclaimed him "Dictator of the 

West," and gave him almost absolute power. People 

everywhere crowned him with honors. When he appeared in 

the streets, the women strewed his path with flowers. Prison 

doors were thrown open, and pale and emaciated convicts 

came forth to breathe pure air for the first time in years.  

The oppressed classes hated the Spaniards with such 

intensity that some of the rebel leaders planned "to massacre 

the accursed race of European Spaniards." As a result, an order 

was issued for the slaying of all royalists, and the atrocities 

that followed were heartrending. This is an illustration of the 
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extremes to which a people will go when justice has been 

violated for generations.  

The royalists, in the meantime, were very active. They 

organized the cowboys of the plains, called llanerosð

wonderful horsemen and fierce fighters. When these rough-

riders were thoroughly equipped, Bolivar's army could not 

resist them. He went out to meet them, but was beaten in battle 

after battle. He had to leave Caracas and flee for his own life, 

followed by a great horde of refugees who feared the 

consequences of rebellion.  

Many royalists had been killed as a result of the order 

of the patriot government. Now that the royalists were on top 

they retaliated in another horrible massacre. All Venezuela 

was again in the hands of the Spaniards except the little island 

of Margarita. In the meantime Bolivar had fled to New 

Granada, as Colombia was then called, to seek help for 

Venezuela or to join the patriots of that province in their 

campaign. New Granada was at that time a confederacy 

composed of several provinces.  

Bolivar, now without a force of his own, was one of a 

number of soldiers who fled from Venezuela and entered the 

service of the patriots in New Granada. His fame had already 

preceded him, and his appearance was hailed with enthusiasm. 

He was placed at the head of a force to reduce Bogota, which 

had rebelled against the patriot government. In December, 

1814, Bogota, the capital of the confederated provinces was 

taken by him.  

Bolivar had rendered such signal service that he was 

named "Captain-General of the Confederacy." It was his 

dream to see all South America united in a single federal 

government corresponding to the United States of America. 

Therefore, the title, Captain-General of the Confederacy, 

pleased him greatly.  

Few men have enjoyed such great triumphs and 

suffered such fatal reverses in quick succession as Simon 

Bolivar. While riding a wave of popular favor, he prepared an 

expedition against the Spanish stronghold of Cartegena. In the 

attempt, in May, 1815, he was wholly unsuccessful. 

Whereupon he resigned his command and withdrew to the 

island of Jamaica.  

Simon Bolivar's enthusiasm for independence took 

strong hold on all who came in contact with him. This was the 

principal source of his power. As a general, he never planned 

his battles with care and skill, but acted on impulse. This 

accounts for his quick successes and his equally sudden 

failures. Bolivar knew better, perhaps, than anyone else the 

temper of the South Americans. No honor was too great for a 

leader who guided them to success and no blame too severe 

for one who failed. This fact doubtless accounts for Bolivar's 

many hasty resignations and frequent flights. He was a typical 

South American, though he added genius to his native 

emotionalism.  

While in Jamaica, Bolivar published his ideas as to the 

future organization of South America. He now advocated the 

independence of each colony. It was his belief, though, that 

New Granada should be united with Venezuela and the union 

called Colombia.  

Bolivar was the most powerful man in northern South 

America. So influential was he that the royalists were 

exceedingly anxious to capture or kill him. On one occasion a 

slave was employed to murder him. Fortunately for the 

Liberator, he did not spend the night at his usual place and the 

assassin killed another in his stead.  

It was Bolivar's great desire to return to Venezuela and 

arouse the people again. Consequently, he left Jamaica. and, 

going to Santo Domingo, secured arms and ammunition; on 

July 5, 1816, he landed once more in his native country. But 

his countrymen no longer believed in him. They did not think 

him a wise leader, remembering only his failures. Indeed, the 

people actually jeered at him, and he returned to Santo 

Domingo with a crushed spirit.  
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Unquestionably, Bolivar is not to be compared with 

San Martin as a military chieftain. But he was a great patriot. 

No adversity was so great as to crush him permanently. Few 

men could rise above misfortune more quickly than he, and he 

was almost without an equal in his ability to organize 

discordant elements.  

Even after his own people rejected him, he made a 

second attempt to arouse the country but failed. He led still 

another expedition, but was routed so completely that he fled 

into the woods and wandered about almost without 

companions. The handful with him accused him of leading 

them astray and being the cause of their misfortunes.  

 

 
 

BOLIVAR  

Notwithstanding the gloomy outlook, Bolivar returned 

to New Granada and issued a new proclamation declaring that 

"The day of America has come. No human power can stay the 

course of nature guided by Providence. Before the sun has 

again run his annual course, altars to liberty will arise 

throughout your land."  

Bolivar's proclamation and his determination to break 

the power of Spain in the north attracted the attention of the 

patriots throughout South America; San Martin wrote him, 

urging him to keep up his spirit. Governor O'Higgins of Chile 

proclaimed him the champion of liberty in the North.  

These cheering messages came when Bolivar was 

deeply disheartened. In fact most men would have given up 

the fight, but he had a will of steel. His own countrymen were 

again turning to him as their real leader. By degrees a part of 

Venezuela was wrested from royalist control, and in February, 

1819, Bolivar was a second time elected to command the 

patriot army.  

He was profiting by the experience of San Martin, who 

was the best tactician and drill-master on the continent. In 

these respects Bolivar had been weak. Henceforth, he took 

more pains to discipline his soldiers and prepare for war, and 

New Granada began to appreciate his power over men. Bolivar 

now planned to unite his forces with those of the neighboring 

republic and crush the Spanish army.  

The forces from New Granada and Venezuela were 

brought together at Boyaca, where, on August 7, 1819, a great 

battle was fought. This time General Bolivar had prepared for 

the struggle. He spared no pains. On the day of the battle the 

patriots were equipped and ready, and the royalists were 

completely crushed. The victory was as famous in the North as 

the victory of Maipo in the South.  

When Bolivar entered Bogota the municipality gave 

him a triumphal reception. A cross of honor and a crown of 

laurel were presented to him. A picture of liberty supported by 

the great Liberator was set up in the council chamber, and it 

was declared that the anniversary of his famous victory should 

be celebrated forever.  




































































































